

LUND UNIVERSITY

Exploring Monoclonal Antibody Action Against the Group A Streptococcal M Protein

Wrighton, Sebastian

2023

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Wrighton, S. (2023). *Exploring Monoclonal Antibody Action Against the Group A Streptococcal M Protein*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00



Exploring Monoclonal Antibody Action Against the Group A Streptococcal M Protein

SEBASTIAN WRIGHTON

DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Exploring Monoclonal Antibody Action Against the Group A Streptococcal M Protein

Exploring Monoclonal Antibody Action Against the Group A Streptococcal M Protein

Sebastian Wrighton



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

With due permission from the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, this doctoral thesis will be publicly defended on the 13th of October 2023 at 13:00 in Segerfalksalen, Biomedical Center (BMC), Lund, Sweden.

Faculty opponent Associate Professor Martina Sanderson-Smith University of Wollongong North Wollongong, New South Wales, Australia Organization: Division of Infection Medicine. Department of Clinical sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

Document name: Doctoral Dissertation	Date of	issue: 20	23-10-13
	•		

Author(s): Sebastian Wrighton

Sponsoring organization:

Title and subtitle: Exploring Monoclonal Antibody Action Against the Group A Streptococcal M Protein

Summary: Group A Streptococcus (GAS) is a significant human pathogen that has developed multiple immune evasion mechanisms to counter the host immune response. One of these mechanisms involves the production of the M protein, which, amongst other things, acts as an anti-phagocytic factor and can bind host proteins. Another is the ability of M protein to bind a human protein called fibronectin (Fn). This protein plays a key role in a number of physiological processes and can be used by GAS to evade the immune system. In this PhD dissertation, we aimed to assess the binding efficacy and function of monoclonal antibodies targeting the GAS M protein.

In the first paper we start by developing a robust method to assess phagocytosis. This method highlights the importance of factors such as volume, time, and the ratio of phagocyte to prey on the phagocytic process. It has allowed us to, henceforth, attain precise, high quality phagocytosis data and has been a major driving force for other projects within the lab - especially the three other papers included in this thesis.

In the second paper we discovered a novel form of antibody binding whereby a monoclonal binds the GAS M protein in a bivalent dual-Fab cis mode. This means that both Fab arms of the Ab bind to distinct epitopes on the target molecule simultaneously. Even so this antibody bound to a region of the M protein associated with non-opsonic antibodies we found that this Ab could enhance phagocytosis suggesting that this novel binding form can circumvent the M protein's anti-phagocytic properties.

In the third paper we investigated the M protein's ability to bind fibronectin. While this function was described in previous studies, we found it could only do so with very low affinity. We found that the binding of antibodies from the blood of donors who had recently recovered from a severe GAS infection could greatly enhance this fibronectin binding. We show that same occurs with certain anti-M monoclonals and that this mechanism leads to a reduction in opsonophagocytosis. Moreover we find that Ab flexibility may play a role and that Ab Fc domains are a crucial factor in mechanism.

In the fourth paper we further explore this anti-phagocytic effect. Here we assess the effects of varying concentrations of Fn since this can differ greatly within the human body. We found that both very low and high concentrations of Fn, corresponding with the nasopharyngeal niche and blood respectively, led to a substantial reduction in phagocytosis. We moreover found that this reduction in phagocytosis is likely linked to a modulation of integrins. Overall, this work provides insights into immune evasion mechanisms developed by GAS and highlights how this remarkable pathogen always seems to be one step ahead of US.

Key words: group A streptococcus, Streptococcus pyogenes, fibronectin, phagocytosis, innate immunity, antibodies, adaptive immunity

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)	Supplementary bibliographical information
Language: English	ISSN and key title: 1652-8220
ISBN: 978-91-8021-459-9	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 95
Price	Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the abovementioned dissertation.

Signature

M

Date 2023-08-31

Exploring Monoclonal Antibody Action Against the Group A Streptococcal M Protein

Sebastian Wrighton



Coverart (front and back): This is a cropped version of the painting titled 'Macrophage and Bacterium 2,000,000X' and was painted by the artist and scientist David Goodsell. The illustratrion shows a cross section of a macrophage in the process of engulfing a bacterium. It gives a detailed perspective of the point of interaction between the two cells. It meticulously highlights the individual macromolecules that play a role in the process of immune recognition, as well as those that are essential for the basic processes of life. The painting is used here with the artist's permission.

Copyright pp 1-95 Sebastian Wrighton Paper 1 © The Journal of Immunology Paper 2 © The Authors Paper 3 © The Authors Paper 4 © The Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Department of Clinical Sciences Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2023:118

ISBN 978-91-8021-459-9 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2023



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN

Standing on the shoulders of giants

Table of Contents

Popular scientific summary1
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning2
Abbreviations
1. Systems of Immunity5
The Dynamic Duo: A Short Introduction to Innate and Adaptive Immunity.5
A Tailored Defense: Exploring the World of Antibodies
The Great Cellular Feast: The Role of Phagocytosis in Immune Defense12
Dinner is Served: Techniques for Analyzing Phagocytosis
2. Fibronectin
Sticky Business: Fibronectin's Key Roles and Features
Fibronectin and Integrins: A Gripping Interaction in Cell Biology24
Bacterial Fibronectin Binding Proteins: When Host Proteins Go Rogue26
3. Group A Streptococcus (GAS)29
GAS Chronicles: From Childbed Fever to Science's Frontiers
Group A Streptococcus: An Exceptionally Successful Microbe32
GAS Virulence Factors: A Formidable Arsenal
The Streptococcal M Protein: An Intriguing Enigma
4. Present investigation43
Original Papers and Manuscripts43
Paper I: High-sensitivity assessment of phagocytosis by persistent association-based normalization
different epitopes in streptococcal M protein mediates immune function
Paper III: Group A streptococci induce stronger M protein-fibronectin interaction when specific human antibodies are bound
Concluding remarks and future perspectives55
Concluding remarks55
Future Perspectives55

Papers not included in this thesis	58
References	60
Acknowledgements	82
Appendix (Papers I-IV)	85

Popular Scientific Summary

Group A Streptococcus, commonly known as GAS, is a devious bacterium that often infects humans. It usually causes relatively mild conditions like 'strep throat' but can rarely cause very severe illness which is why they are sometimes referred to as 'flesh eating bacteria'. This bacterium has evolved many techniques to avoid our immune system. One of its most cunning tricks is making a protein called the M protein. This protein not only protects the bacterium from being eaten by our immune cells but can also stick to our own proteins to help it to hide from immune defenses. One protein it clings to is called fibronectin and it is vital for many of our body's processes. The goal of this PhD thesis was to better understand how antibodies, special proteins made by our immune system, interact with the M protein and how this can affect the M proteins ability to stick to fibronectin.

In the first paper we established a reliable way to measure how immune cells protect us by 'eating' invaders like GAS bacteria, a process called phagocytosis. This method let us account for factors like reaction volume, incubation time, and the number of bacteria per immune cell since these can influence how efficiently they eat. With this tool in hand, we were able to get clearer data that boosted other projects in our lab, including the other papers included in this thesis.

In the second paper we found a new and interesting way that certain antibodies stick to the M protein. Imagine an antibody as a 'Y' shape; in this case both arms of the 'Y' can attach to different spots on the M protein at the same time. This is a new finding because usually antibodies only bind to a target once. Even though these antibodies stick to a part of the M protein that usually helps GAS evade our defences, they surprisingly make it easier for our immune cells to eat GAS.

In the third paper we looked closely at how the M protein binds to fibronectin. While previous studies noted this behavior, we observed that the M protein doesn't stick very tightly on its own. But when antibodies from people who had recently recovered from a tough GAS infection were present, the M protein's grip on fibronectin got much stronger. This tighter bond makes it harder for our immune cells to eat and remove GAS from our bodies.

Finally in the fourth paper, we studied how different amounts of fibronectin influence GAS's protection from being eaten by immune cells. We discovered that both very low and very high levels, found in different parts of our body, make it hard for our immune cells to eat GAS. We saw that this protective effect might be because of changes in our body's proteins known as integrins. These help cells communicate, attach to their environment, and are even involved in the process of 'cell eating'.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Grupp A-streptokocker, allmänt kända som GAS, är en lömsk bakterie som ofta infekterar människor. Den orsakar vanligtvis relativt lindriga tillstånd som "halsfluss" men kan i sällsynta fall orsaka mycket allvarliga sjukdomar, vilket är anledningen till att de ibland kallas "köttätande bakterier". Denna bakterie har utvecklat många sätt för att undvika vårt immunförsvar. Ett av dess listigaste knep är att tillverka ett protein som kallas M-protein. Detta protein skyddar inte bara bakterien från att bli uppäten av våra immunceller, utan kan också fästa till våra egna proteiner för att hjälpa den att gömma sig från immunförsvaret. Ett protein som den fäster vid kallas fibronektin och det är avgörande för många av kroppens processer. Målet med denna doktorsavhandling var att bättre förstå hur antikroppar, speciella proteiner som tillverkas av vårt immunsystem, interagerar med Mproteinet och hur detta kan påverka M-proteinets förmåga att fästa till fibronektin.

I den första artikeln utvecklade vi ett sätt att mäta hur immunceller skyddar oss genom att "äta" inkräktare som GAS-bakterier, en process som kallas fagocytos. Med den här metoden kunde vi ta hänsyn till faktorer som reaktionsvolym, inkubationstid och antalet bakterier per immuncell, eftersom dessa kan påverka hur effektivt de äter. Med det här verktyget i handen kunde vi få tydligare data som gynnade andra projekt i vårt labb, inklusive de andra artiklarna som ingår i den här avhandlingen.

I den andra artikeln fann vi ett nytt och intressant sätt för vissa antikroppar att fästa vid M-proteinet. Föreställ dig en antikropp som ett Y. I det här fallet kan Y:ets båda armar fästa på olika ställen på M-proteinet samtidigt. Detta är en ny upptäckt eftersom antikroppar vanligtvis bara binder till ett mål en gång. Även om dessa antikroppar fäster vid en del av M-proteinet som vanligtvis hjälper GAS att undvika vårt försvar, gör de det överraskande nog lättare för våra immunceller att äta upp GAS.

I den tredje artikeln tittade vi närmare på hur M-proteinet binder till fibronektin. Tidigare studier har visat att M-proteinet binder till fibronektin, men vi kunde konstatera att det inte gör det på egen hand. Men när antikroppar från personer som nyligen hade återhämtat sig från en tuff GAS-infektion var närvarande, blev Mproteinets grepp om fibronektin mycket starkare. Denna tätare bindning gör det svårare för våra immunceller att äta och avlägsna GAS från våra kroppar.

I den fjärde artikeln studerade vi hur olika mängder fibronektin påverkar GAS skydd mot att ätas upp av vara immunceller. Vi upptäckte att både mycket låga och mycket höga nivåer, som finns i olika delar av vår kropp, gör det svårt för våra immunceller att äta GAS. Vi såg att denna skyddande effekt kan bero på förändringar i kroppens proteiner som kallas integriner. Dessa hjälper celler att kommunicera, fästa vid sin omgivning och är till och med inblandade i processen för "cellätande".

Abbreviations

ADCC	Ab-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
Ab	Antibody
AMP	Antimicrobial peptide
APC	Antigen presenting cell
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CFU	Colony forming unit
СН	Constant heavy (domain)
CR	Complement receptor
CLR	C-type lectin receptor
DFCB	Dual-Fab cis-binding
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EC ₅₀	Half-maximal effective concentration
Fab	Fragment antigen-binding
Fc	Fragment crystallizable
FcR	Fc receptor
FcγR	Fc gamma receptor
Fn	Fibronectin
FnBP	Fibronectin-binding protein
GAG	Glycosaminoglycans
GAS	Group A streptococcus
GPIIb/IIIa	Glycoprotein IIb/IIIa
HEK-293	Human embryonic kidney 293 cells
HVR	Hypervariable region
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
LTA	Lipoteichoic acid
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MBL	Mannose-binding lectin
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex

NCAMNeural cell adhesion moleculeNK cellsNatural killer cellsRHDRheumatic heart disease	
RHD Rheumatic heart disease	
it in a second a seco	
MAMP Microbe-associated molecular pattern	L
PCR Polymerase chain reaction	
PRR Pattern recognition receptor	
SAg Superantigen	
STSS Streptococcal toxic shock syndrome	
TCR T cell receptor	
VDJ Variability, diversity, and joining	
VF Virulence factor	
Vn Vitronectin	
VR Variable Region	

1. Systems of Immunity

The Dynamic Duo: A Short Introduction to Innate and Adaptive Immunity

The human immune system is a complex network of cells, tissues, and organs that operates as a highly effective guardian of our health. It is tasked with the critical mission of protecting the body from disease. This could be triggered by pathogens like bacteria, viruses, fungi, and parasites or noxious environmental toxins and potentially cancerous cell mutations. The immune system works tirelessly, coordinating a response to threats in real-time to maintain our wellbeing. Fundamentally, the immune system is broadly categorized into two primary branches: the innate immune system and the adaptive immune system. Both these systems interact and cooperate in the shared goal of protecting our body from disease, but each has its unique mechanisms and responsibilities.

The innate immune system, often referred to as our body's first line of defense, offers broad, rapid protection against pathogens (1). This component of our immune system includes physical barriers such as our skin and mucous membranes that physically prevent the entry of threats (2). Further, there are chemical barriers such as gastric acid or bile acid and biological barriers such as digestive enzymes, mucus, and saliva (3). Finally, there are the cells of the innate immune system which comprise certain white blood cells (also known as leukocytes) or a plethora of other, heterogenous cell types (4,5). Innate immunity is quick to respond, offering immediate defense against infection. This is, in part, possible due to mechanisms such as inflammation, which helps in localizing the infection. Inflammation is triggered by molecules that are discharged by cells that have sustained damage or have sensed a threat through other means. It essentially creates a protective barrier to prevent the further spread of an infection and facilitates the repair of any damaged tissue once the pathogen or threat has been eliminated (6). Further, the complement system is a biochemical cascade that assists, or 'complements', the capacity of antibodies (Abs) to eliminate pathogens or signal them for removal by other cells (7).

The innate immune system is, often referred to as the 'non-specific' arm of the immune system. This is somewhat misleading since the cells of the innate immune system can act with high precision. They do so by recognizing and reacting to

conserved signals and patterns associated with harmful pathogens and other dangerous substances (8). The critical difference lies in the fact that they cannot adapt and recognize novel foreign intruders since their specificity is inherited in their genome (1). Equipped with defense mechanisms like phagocytosis and cytotoxic molecules, these cells can swiftly initiate a protective response (4). A range of distinct immune cells are included in the innate immune system. Professional phagocytes, such as macrophages, B cells, and dendritic cells, protect the body by ingesting and so removing pathogens and foreign particles from the body. Then there are granulocytes such as basophils, eosinophils, and mast cells. These cells derive their name from the granules they hold in their cytoplasm. These granules are secretory vesicles that store a mixture of cytotoxic molecules, including many enzymes and antimicrobial peptides (AMP). Neutrophils constitute an interesting cell type since they are both professional phagocytes and granulocytes (1). Even cells that we would usually not associate with the immune system like epithelial cells or mesenchymal cells are a part of the innate immune system since they serve as non-professional phagocytes. They do so by, for example, ingesting neighboring apoptotic tumor cells (9).

While the innate immune system offers a rapid response, it lacks specificity and memory. It responds to invaders in essentially the same way each time, without the ability to remember and recognize specific pathogens in the future. This is where the adaptive immune system steps in. However, we are not yet done with the innate immune system since it plays a crucial role in the stimulation and eventual activation of the adaptive immune system (10). Some professional phagocytes are also professional antigen-presenting cells (APC). These phagocytes express heterodimeric molecules known as the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II. When an APC ingests foreign, or nonself proteins, these are eventually fragmented through digestive enzymes. The resulting short chains of amino acids known as peptides are loaded onto the MHC class II molecule which is then expressed on the cell surface. This MHC class II-peptide antigen complex can then interact with the T cell receptor (TCR) of cluster of differentiation (CD) 4⁺ T cells (also known as T helper cells). In turn these CD4⁺ T cells can, if necessary, initiate an adaptive immune response against the foreign entity (11). As mentioned above, a wide range of cell types can function as non-professional phagocytes. These cells, along with virtually every other type of human cell, also serve as non-professional APCs. They do so through expression of the MHC class I molecule. In contrast with MHC class II, this molecule is primarily used to present peptides derived from endogenous proteins (also known as self-proteins). This means its main function is to allow the immune system to assess whether cells are healthy and acting normally. This occurs through patrolling CD8⁺ T cells (also known as cytotoxic T cells) that use their TCR to assess the self-peptides loaded onto the MHC class I molecule. This is particularly important for cancer prevention since essentially any cell can succumb to mutations that allow for its uncontrolled proliferation and malignant transformation (12). Moreover, this pathway is crucial for the identification and eradication of cells infected with viruses (13).

The adaptive immune system is a more specialized and targeted form of defense. Unlike the innate system, adaptive immunity is capable of remembering specific pathogens, allowing for a quicker and more potent response upon subsequent encounters. This characteristic is why vaccines work – they introduce a harmless form of the pathogen into the body, allowing the adaptive immune system to, in the case of a true exposure, recognize the invader and respond more efficiently (14). The adaptive immune system's key players are the T cells and B cells, both of which are a type of white blood cell called lymphocytes. B cells produce Abs, which are proteins that bind to specific antigens on the surface of pathogens, neutralizing them or marking them for destruction by other immune cells. T cells, mentioned previously because of their tight connection with the innate immune system, have various roles – some directly kill infected cells (CD8⁺ T cells), others help orchestrating the adaptive immune responses to prevent excessive reactions (CD4⁺ T cells) (15).

One could view the innate and adaptive immune systems as partners working together to guard our health. The innate system is the rapid, frontline defense, acting almost immediately upon pathogen exposure. In contrast, the adaptive system is slower to respond initially but provides a powerful, specific response and long-term immunity. Since both branches are in many ways interdependent, they must continually work in harmony with each other. The immune system is, in essence, an extraordinarily complex military operation happening within our bodies. With an army of various cells performing different yet coordinated functions. It continuously guards us against a world full of microscopic threats. However, it is essential to note that, like any system, the immune system can sometimes falter or overreact, leading to conditions like immunodeficiencies, autoimmune diseases, and allergies (1). Understanding these aspects further deepens our appreciation for the finely balanced nature of our immune system.

A Tailored Defense: Exploring the World of Antibodies

The journey to our current understanding of Abs, also known as immunoglobulins, has been a fascinating one. It is marked by many pivotal discoveries, resulting in the bestowal of numerous Nobel prizes for medicine (16–19). The initial finding, proving the existence of Abs, dates back to the late 19th century. The credit for this groundbreaking discovery is shared by two scientists, Emil von Behring and Shibasaburo Kitasato. In 1890, they embarked on a series of experiments whereby they injected guineapigs, goats, and horses with diphtheria and tetanus toxins. When

the animals developed an immune response, they drew blood and began an array of experiments. Eventually they were able to extract and identify substances from the animals' blood that could neutralize the toxins. They decided to name these 'antitoxins' (20,21). This was the first hint of what we now call Abs. The significance of this discovery was soon recognized, and von Behring was awarded the first Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 1901 for his work (22). The term 'Antikörper' (German for 'antibody'), however, was first inadvertently coined by Paul Ehrlich in his much celebrated 'Experimental Studies on Immunity' which were published in 1891 (23). Although the term "antitoxin" remained prevalent among researchers for some time, the usage of "antibody" gradually gained traction and eventually became the more commonly used term. Over the following decades, researchers expanded on these foundations, laying the groundwork for modern immunology.

Abs are central components of the body's immune system. They are proteins produced by specialized white blood cells known as B lymphocytes (also known as B cells). They do so in response to foreign entities, that may pose a threat to our bodies. This includes bacteria, viruses, or other harmful pathogens. The Ab recognizes a distinct molecule on the pathogen, known as an antigen (Ag). The specific binding site on the Ag is referred to as an epitope which amounts a unique molecular pattern. While both TCRs and Abs target antigens, TCRs are restricted to linearized peptide Ags presented by MHC molecules. Ab Ags, however, are far more diverse and can take the form of proteins, peptides, polysaccharides, fats, lipids, as well as nucleic acids. Moreover, Abs can recognize 3-dimensional molecular structures (24–26). These features allow Abs to target specific pathogens with high precision. The role of Abs is to recognize, bind, and help neutralize these foreign substances, playing a vital role in the broader immune defense (1). Here, it's worth clarifying that the term 'neutralization' carries a specialized meaning when it comes to Abs. An Ab can neutralize a pathogen if it can prevent it from infecting host cells. This can occur if an antibody binds to exactly the right portion of a protein that is, for example, used to fuse with and so infect a host cell (27). While some Abs can neutralize a pathogen directly, others merely bind to it without affecting its ability to infect. These are aptly known as non-neutralizing Abs. These cannot neutralize the pathogen because they don't attach to the right region, however, they still play a role in flagging the pathogen for immune cells and can in this way play a key role in immunity (28,29). In contrast, neutralizing Abs can neutralize the pathogen without needing additional help from immune cells (27). Intriguingly, in certain situations, viruses can exploit non-neutralizing Abs - or even insufficient levels of neutralizing Abs – to facilitate their entry into host cells. This phenomenon is called antibody-dependent enhancement (30).

In 1959, Gerald M. Edelman and Rodney R. Porter, working independently, started investigating the precise structure of Abs. Edelman used reduction methods to break down the Ab molecule into smaller components, discovering two large heavy chains and two smaller light chains. At the same time, Porter used enzymatic digestion and

found that the antigen-binding fragment (Fab) could be separated from the crystallizable fraction, or Fc (16.31.32). This work provided insight into the wellknown Y-shaped structure of Abs. The Fab portions form the arms of the Y and are responsible for antigen binding. The Fc portion forms the stem and allows the interaction with immune cells. In 1972, both Edelman and Porter were awarded the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for their significant contributions to the understanding of Ab structure (16). In the ensuing decades we have gained far deeper knowledge regarding the exact structure of Abs. We now know that each chain comprises both constant and variable regions whereby the constant region of the heavy chain can be subdivided into various constant heavy (CH) domains. The variable region (VR) is where Ag-binding takes place, and due to its highly diverse nature, enables Abs to recognize a vast array of Ags. The constant region, on the other hand, determines the class or isotype of the Ab and interacts with other components of the immune system (33) (Fig. 1). The Ab classes, also known as isotypes. include Immunoglobulin G (IgG), Immunoglobulin А (IgA). Immunoglobulin M (IgM), Immunoglobulin E (IgE), and Immunoglobulin D (IgD), each with a specific role and locations within the body (34). For instance, IgG is the most common Ab in blood circulation and provides long-term immunity (35). IgA is the Ab isotype that is produced most in the body overall. It is found on mucous membranes and secretions, protecting body surfaces that are regularly exposed to foreign organisms and substances (36). Furthermore, both IgG and IgA have subclasses, differentiated based on minor structural and functional differences (37,38).



Figure 1

Dissection of an IgG antibody **a** This cartoon depticts an IgG molecule divided into it various regions. The heavy chains are shown in green and the light chains in brown. Labeling indicates the various Ab domains whereby the heavy chain is divided into constant heavy (CH) domains 1-3. CH1 is connected to CH2-3 by the hinge region. The hinge divides the Ab into its Fab and Fc regions. The light chain only has a single constant domain. Both heavy and light chains possess variable regions (VH/VL) which together form the variable region (VR) which determines the binding specificity. **b** 3D Crystal structure of a neutralizing human IgG1 antibody against HIV-1 (39). **c** the Fab and **d** Fc region of the Ab is shown in greater detail. **b-d** The images are from RCSB Protein Data Bank (RCSB.org), PDB ID: 1HZH.

As mentioned above, Abs interact with immune cells through their constant stem or Fc region. This region can bind to specific receptors, called Fc receptors (FcR), found on the surface of various immune cells, such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and neutrophils (40). Each Ab isotype is associated with certain FcRs, whereby IgG primarily interacts with the various Fc gamma receptors (Fc γ R). The binding of the Fc region of an Ab to an appropriate FcR triggers signaling pathways which allow the immune cell to initiate effector functions associated with the respective FcR. Often Abs are referred to as opsonins whereby other proteins can also function as

such. Opsonins are proteins found outside of cells that attach to specific substances or cells. Once attached, they signal immune cells known as phagocytes to engulf and ingest those substances or cells that have the opsonins bound to them. Therefore, the term opsonization refers to the process of coating a pathogen with Abs, or other opsonic proteins, to tag them for destruction, significantly enhancing their recognition and ingestion by phagocytes. When Abs bind to the body's own cells this can trigger Ab-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), wherein immune cells kill the target cells to which Abs have bound. In addition to these processes, the interaction of the Ab Fc region with FcRs can furthermore trigger the release of potent signaling molecules, such as cytokines and chemokines. These molecules can recruit more immune cells to the site of infection, amplifying the immune response (41). It is important to note that the nature of the immune response can be heavily influenced by the specific class of Ab involved, as each class can bind different FcRs and thereby trigger different immune responses (42). For instance, IgG Abs are particularly effective at initiating ADCC, while IgE Abs are known for triggering allergic responses by activating mast cells and basophils (43,44). Thus, the Fc region's interaction with FcRs on immune cells represents a critical link between the pathogen-specific recognition capacity of the adaptive immune system and the potent effector functions of the innate immune system.

For our immune system to effectively identify and neutralize an unimaginably vast array of potential threats, it's crucial that our Abs possess an extraordinary level of diversity in binding specificity. This breadth of specificity enables each Ab to recognize and bind to a unique Ag, allowing the immune system to respond to a wide range of pathogens and foreign substances. This remarkable diversity is primarily generated through two processes: VDJ recombination and somatic hypermutation. VDJ recombination is a genetic recombination of variable (V), diversity (D), and joining (J) gene segments that occurs during the development of B cells in the bone marrow. This process creates a vast repertoire of Abs capable of binding to a multitude of different Ags (45). However, these Abs usually have low affinity (i.e. binding strength) for their targets. After the initial exposure to an Ag, the process of somatic hypermutation further refines this diversity. This process introduces point mutations in the VRs of the Ab genes at a high rate during the proliferation of B cells in germinal centers within secondary lymphoid organs, like lymph nodes. This leads to the production of Abs with higher affinity for the Ag, a process known as affinity maturation (46). Together, VDJ recombination and somatic hypermutation allow our Abs to respond to a remarkably wide range of foreign entities.

After it had been established that Abs can be used as powerful therapeutics in the form of 'antitoxins', researchers were quick to realize that their remarkable specificity could be harnessed to test hypotheses in the lab. Nowadays Abs have become indispensable molecular tools, allowing for the recognition, purification and even modification of targets that are otherwise unperceivable to us. So called

monoclonal antibodies (mAb) represent a powerful tool both in biomedical research and in the clinical treatment of various diseases. Unlike polyclonal Abs, which are a diverse mixture of Abs produced by different B cell lineages, each mAb is produced by identical immune cells that are all clones of a unique parent cell. This means that each mAb is specific to a single epitope allowing for extraordinary precision in targeting (47). The concept of mAbs was first introduced in the 1970s by César Milstein and Georges Köhler, who developed a technique to fuse a normal, Ab-producing B cell with a myeloma cell, a type of cancer cell. This created a hybrid cell, called hybridoma, that could both produce a single type of Ab and replicate indefinitely, providing a renewable source of specific Abs (48). Currently, the generation of mAbs has been refined and several methodologies exist. One widely used approach involves transitory transfection of human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293 cells. In this process, HEK-293 cells, which are easy to grow and manipulate genetically, are transiently transfected with plasmids encoding the heavy and light chains of the desired mAb. This is typically achieved using a method such as lipofection or electroporation, where the plasmid DNA is introduced into the cells. Following transfection, the HEK-293 cells begin to produce the mAb and secrete it into the culture medium. The mAb can then be isolated from the cell culture supernatant (49). This technique offers a rapid and reliable way to produce mAbs with high purity and yield. As we will see in Chapter 2, mAbs have been instrumental tools in some of cell biology's most fundamental discoveries. Today, mAbs have far-reaching applications, from diagnostic tests to cancer therapies.

In conclusion, Abs are pivotal players in the immune response, providing a robust defense against a myriad of pathogens. Their unique structure and diversity enable them to bind specifically to Ags and facilitate their neutralization or destruction by immune cells. The dynamic processes of VDJ recombination and somatic hypermutation ensure an almost limitless adaptability, allowing the immune system to respond to continually evolving threats. As we delve deeper into understanding the complexities of Ab biology, we continue to unlock new ways to harness their potential for therapeutic and diagnostic applications. Indeed, Abs have played a crucial role in all four of the articles included in this thesis.

The Great Cellular Feast: The Role of Phagocytosis in Immune Defense

The journey towards understanding phagocytosis is a fundamental chapter in the field of immunology, as this process represents the first recognized mechanism of the immune response. The concept of "cell eating" was first definitively put forth by the Swiss scientist Albert von Kölliker in 1849. In a publication in the scientific journal, *'Zeitschrift für Wissenschaftliche Zoologie'*, Kölliker meticulously

described the feeding behavior of the heliozoan, Actinophyrys sol, a type of amoebalike alga. He observed the alga engulfing and consuming a small organism, now referred to as a microbe but then referred to as infusoria (50). This was the first recorded instance of such behavior – a process, which we now call endocytosis. The first identification of phagocytosis by leukocytes was made by Ernst Haeckel, a German zoologist, more than 10 years later. Haeckel discovered that the blood cells of a sea slug, known as *Tethys*, were capable of consuming particles of Indian ink or indigo. Although the link between certain blood cells and inflammation in the form of trafficking had already been established many years prior, this was inaugural evidence of immune cells employing phagocytosis (51,52). Haeckel published his findings in 1862 which led to much excitement in the field. In the following years many novel findings began to shed light on the specific morphology of leukocyte movements and ingestions. However, at the time there was still no overarching theory to integrate all this knowledge. It was not until the early 1880s that Élie Metchnikoff, a Russian zoologist, was able to see the larger picture. He named this cellular process 'phagocytosis' and the cells that perform it 'phagocytes' derived from the two Ancient Greek words 'phagein' (to eat) and 'kytos' (cell) (53,54). While Metchnikoff did not, as many have previously stated, 'discover' the process of phagocytosis, he was the first to assign it the role of defending the host against dangerous entities such as microbes. This, along with his discoveries regarding leukocyte recruitment, led to his joint receipt of the 1908 Nobel Prize in Physiology and Medicine, shared with Paul Ehrlich for his work on humoral immunity. Today, he is universally recognized as the father of innate immunity, with some suggesting his influence extends to all immunological sciences (55.56).

Our knowledge regarding phagocytosis has evolved considerably since these initial observations. According to our current understanding, phagocytosis is a fundamental process in the immune response wherein cells engulf large particles (≥ 0.5 µm) such as bacteria, dead cells, or other cellular debris (57). This cellular act of 'eating' is pivotal in maintaining tissue homeostasis and defending the body against foreign pathogens (58). Various types of leukocytes, perform phagocytosis, aptly known as phagocytes. These include neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and even some types of lymphocytes (59). Each has its distinct role within the immune response: Neutrophils act as the first line of defense during infections since they are the most abundant leukocytes and can be rapidly recruited to the site of inflammation from the vasculature (60). Monocytes, circulating in the bloodstream, transform into macrophages when they migrate into tissues, where they continue to perform phagocytosis and play a significant role in the immune system's chronic stages (61). Dendritic cells, primarily stationed in peripheral tissues, are crucial in Ag presentation, making them key players in adaptive immune responses (62). Since phagocytes are akin to microscopic predators, we will henceforth refer to their phagocytic targets as 'prey' if the specific target is not relevant.

Phagocytosis can be broadly classified into two forms: opsonic and non-opsonic. In opsonic phagocytosis, the prevs are first coated by molecules termed 'opsonins', which include Abs and complement proteins. These opsonins make the process of phagocytosis more rapid and effective (63). For example, the complement system can allow for virtually instantaneous opsonization. In the classical complement pathway, the deposition of complement on a pathogen is triggered by a bound Ab (specifically the isotypes IgG and IgM) (64). The lectin pathway is homologous to the classical pathway except that it is triggered by mannose-binding lectin (MBL) or ficolins instead of Abs (65). These identify specific carbohydrates like mannose or glucose on bacterial surfaces, initiating a cascade that recruits additional complement proteins to serve as opsonins for phagocytes. Finally, there is the alternative complement pathway which is mechanistically distinct from both the classical and lectin pathways. It operates continuously in a low-level activation state, acting as a surveillance system for the body. This pathway does not rely on Abs for initiation; instead, it is spontaneously activated by the hydrolysis of C3 into C3a and C3b. This occurs continuously at a low rate in the plasma and results in free and abundant C3b (66). When this free C3b binds to a pathogen, it sets off the remaining complement cascade. However, C3b is not pathogen-specific and binds to numerous surfaces indiscriminately. To avoid self-targeting, host cells express various regulatory proteins that inhibit the complement activation process (67). Certain complement proteins can act as opsonins through their interaction with complement receptors (CR). These are a group of proteins expressed on various immune cells, including monocytes and macrophages. They play significant roles in the immune response, recognizing and binding to complement-coated pathogens or cells (68). Several complement receptors exist, including CR1, CR2, CR3, and CR4, each offering distinct functions and ligand-binding abilities. For example, CR3 and CR4, discussed further in Chapter 2 and 4, trigger phagocytosis by binding to iC3b - an inactive form of C3b that coats pathogens. Overall, through its various pathways, the complement system can allow for swift and efficient pathogen recognition and targeting. This mechanism plays a pivotal role in immunity, in some cases eliminating the need for a targeted response from the adaptive immune system (69). In fact, in some cases the complement system is even able to kill pathogens directly through large pore-forming complexes – known as the membrane attack complex (70). However, as we will discuss in Chapter 3, group A streptococcus (GAS) has developed a range of complement evasion strategies and is resistant to complement-mediated lysis because of its thick cell wall.

As previously noted, Abs constitute another form of opsonins. They are critical players in the process of opsonization and phagocytosis. Ab-mediated phagocytosis begins when the Fc region of an Ab binds to FcRs located on the surface of immune cells, such as macrophages, neutrophils, and dendritic cells (71). A noteworthy aspect of this mechanism is its ability to target pathogens and entities unknown to the innate immune system. The remarkable diversity and specificity of Abs generated by the adaptive immune response allows the identification and binding of

a vast array of antigens. This means even newly encountered pathogens can be opsonized and flagged for destruction by immune cells, facilitating targeted phagocytosis. Moreover, the therapeutic potential of this process is enormous. mAbs, engineered to target specific antigens, have been utilized to opsonize target cells, such as cancer cells, leading to their phagocytic destruction. This strategy forms the basis of various contemporary cancer immunotherapies. (72,73). Moreover, there is a growing interest in the application of opsonic Abs for the treatment of infectious diseases. Especially since there is growing evidence showing that non-neutralizing, opsonic Abs can also provide protection against pathogens (28,29).



Figure 2

The process of phagocytosis can be divided into various steps. Upon receptor binding, a sequence of cellular rearangement ensues. Pronounced membrane curvatures appear at the phagocytic cup's base as well as at the starting and ending points of extending pseudopods. This process is driven by significant actin cytoskeletal rearrangements and requires membrane adaptation. Following its formation, the phagosome matures through selective merging interactions with endosomes (not shown) and lysosomes, culminating in the creation of the enzyme-rich, acidic phagolysosome. This environment facilitates the enzymatic destruction of particles or pathogens. This figure best describes the process of macrophage-mediated phagocytosis which is the most thoroughly studied form.

Non-opsonic phagocytosis, on the other hand, doesn't require the prey to be opsonized and usually involves the direct recognition of microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on the phagocyte. These PRRs include: Toll-like receptors (TLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), and Scavenger receptors, among others (74,75). Each of these PRRs recognizes specific MAMPs, which are unique molecular structures that are universally shared among a group of related microorganisms but not present in host cells. This direct interaction between the phagocyte and the pathogen allows the innate immune system to respond rapidly and efficiently to a wide range of microbial threats (71).

Once a prey, has been recognized by a phagocyte, either through opsonic or nonopsonic receptors, the process of phagocytosis is initiated. The actual process of

engulfment can happen through a range of distinct mechanisms that are dictated by the type of receptor and cell type (60). For example, CR-mediated phagocytosis is characterized by so called 'sinking phagocytosis' where complement-opsonized preys seem to 'sink' into the plasma membrane (76). Given that three out of the four papers included in this thesis examine the impact of specific IgG Abs on phagocytosis, our attention in this chapter will henceforth primarily concentrate on Fc gamma receptor ($Fc\gamma R$)-mediated phagocytosis. This process commences when an IgG-opsonized prey binds to the FcyRs on a phagocyte. This interaction prompts a signaling cascade inside the cell, leading to the activation of proteins that rapidly rearrange the cytoskeleton. This rearrangement, predominantly driven by actin polymerization, propels the membrane to extend around the prey, forming a structure known as a phagocytic cup (77). Eventually, the cup envelops the prey, completely enclosing it within the cell in a vesicle known as a phagosome (Fig. 2). This FcyR-mediated mechanism is often described as 'zipper-like' phagocytosis, where the prev is progressively wrapped in the plasma membrane, akin to a zipper closing up (78). Interestingly, it has recently shown that CR3 is involved in FcyRmediated phagocytosis whereby it was seen to be critical for the regular formation and closing of the phagocytic cup (76) (see Figure 3 for a detailed description of the hypothetical mechanism). After phagosome formation it goes through the process of phagosome maturation where the phagosome becomes increasingly acidic (from pH 6.5 to 4), gains certain protein markers, and is filled with a variety of degradative enzymes. This occurs through a series of fusions with vesicles in the cytoplasm. The process begins with the fusion of early endosomes, followed by late endosomes, and finally, with lysosomes. The fusion with lysosomes results in the formation of a phagolysosome, where the ingested material is broken down into basic molecular components (79)(Fig. 2). It is important to note that this description best exemplifies macrophage-mediated phagocytosis. In particular the process of phagosome maturation can differ between types of phagocytes. For example, the pH of neutrophil phagosomes remains relatively stable throughout (60). Regardless of cell type, mature phagolysosomes can effectively neutralize most potential threats such as bacteria or viruses although some pathogens have developed mechanisms to evade phagolysosomal killing (80-82). FcyR-mediated phagocytosis is furthermore important because it supports the engagement of other immune cells by triggering the discharge of numerous pro-inflammatory cytokines (83).



Figure 3

Hypothetical model of aMg2-assisted FcyR-mediated phagocytosis. Phagocytosis is initiated when an IgG molecule (brown) bound to its target ligand (yellow) on prey (dark grey) is recognized by surface expressed FcyRs (dark blue). FcyR-mediated phagocytosis is characterized by phagocytic cup formation which is driven by polymerization of actin (red). This process, involving the addition of new monomers to the filaments adjacent to the membrane, creates a force that presses against the plasma membrane and results in membrane protrusion. This pressure is equalized between the membrane's protrusion and the actin filaments' retrograde flow. During the formation of the phagocytic cup more prey-bound IgG is recognized by FcyRs on the surface of pseudopod tips. At the same time adjacent α M β 2 integrins (in purple and pink) recognize a diverse array of ligands (green) on the prey. This interaction allows coupling of the actin cytoskeleton with the target prey resulting in mechanical tension. This tension transforms the integrins into an extended-open conformation, which in turn aids in gripping the particle with higher affinity. This tension between actin and integin results in the full formation of the integrin adapter complex (orange), further fortifying the connection and reducing slippage. This enhanced grip on the prey decreases the backward flow of actin, amplifying forward protrusion of pseudopods. This constitutes a possible explanation for why aMB2 is required for efficient FcyR-mediated phagocytosis. Figure adapted from Jaumouillé et al. 2020 (84).

In conclusion, phagocytosis is a crucial mechanism by which the immune system defends the body against foreign invaders and maintains tissue homeostasis. The process involves several players and steps, from recognition to engulfment and destruction of the target. Whether it's a neutrophil quickly responding to a bacterial invasion, a macrophage cleaning up cellular debris, or a dendritic cell alerting the adaptive immune system, phagocytes are the unsung heroes of the immune system. Furthermore, our understanding of processes like Fc- or CR-mediated phagocytosis has implications beyond basic biology. It contributes to our knowledge of how to modulate the immune response, with potential applications in fighting infections,

autoimmune diseases, and even cancer. The upcoming chapter will review both historical and contemporary techniques for qualitative and quantitative evaluation of this extraordinary process.

Dinner is Served: Techniques for Analyzing Phagocytosis

As a fundamental process of cell biology, phagocytosis is of wide-reaching importance to a number or disparate research fields (85). This makes the precise characterization and quantification of this process ever more important. Over the years, many techniques have been developed, each with their own strengths and limitations. However, an undeniable lack of standardization has been a major obstacle hindering the comparability and reproducibility of results in this field. Here we will shortly review the field of phagocytosis assessment, highlighting the most commonly used methods.

Choosing the appropriate method to study phagocytosis is much like framing a research question in any other scientific field: you first need to carefully define the question you're seeking to answer. This is crucial because phagocytosis is a highly complex and dynamic process, which current technology can only partially capture. Furthermore, the efficiency of phagocytosis can vary depending on several factors, such as sample volume, incubation time, and the ratio of prey to phagocyte – also known as the multiplicity of prey (MOP) (85). Therefore, meticulous planning is essential for any phagocytosis experiment, regardless of the method employed.

Traditionally, Colony Forming Unit (CFU)-based assays have been commonly used and are still used today (86,87). Such methods are performed by incubating phagocytes with live target bacteria. After incubation the sample is diluted and spread on bacterial growth plates (e.g. blood agar). After overnight incubation the number of CFUs per plate is counted. By comparing these with samples where no phagocytes were added it is possible to assess the degree of phagocyte-mediated killing. This method indirectly gauges phagocytosis and is generally used when the primary focus is on the outcome of the phagocytic process, rather than the process itself. Due to these limitations, the method is not well-suited for a detailed examination of the many cellular processes that contribute to phagocytosis. It is primarily applicable for studying bacteria that can be readily cultured using standard bacterial media. Furthermore, these assays can be inconsistent and challenging to execute – especially with bacteria prone to forming chains or clusters, such as GAS.

Microscopy-based methods such as electron- or light microscopy are also commonly used and offer many benefits including the ability to directly visualize the phagocytic process. Often this is done by exposing phagocytes to their prey for a certain amount of time and freezing the process by adding a fixative. This allows for the retroactive labeling of phagocytes, prev, and even cellular components using dyes and Abs. Intracellular prey can be differentiated from extracellular prey by permeabilizing the plasma membrane of phagocytes or using methods such as quenching or a change in fluorescence triggered by the intracellular environment (88–90). Light microscopy methods offer the benefit that the samples need not be fixed allowing for the capture of timelapse footage of the phagocytic process. In recent years such data has contributed significantly to our understanding of the various phagocytic phenotypes conferred by distinct initiating receptors (76). A major drawback of microscopy-based methods is the ability to scale them. The outcome of experiments is often assessed manually by searching for interacting cells and counting the number of associated or internalized prey. This is highly timeconsuming, may introduce observer bias, and cannot be performed in a highthroughput manner. However, this can be accomplished by computer-assisted microscopy since many if not all parts of this process can be automated – from acquisition to image analysis. This kind of methodology has remained elusive for many researchers since it entailed a deep knowledge of programming and engineering. Even experienced programmers have had issues due to the fragmented nature of the various software packages associated with different hardware manufacturers. However, there is hope, global collaboration within the field is beginning to allow the development of software solutions making this technology more accessible for all researchers (91). In addition, recent advancements in automated imaging technologies, drawing insights from the domain of mass spectrometry, are facilitating the capturing of high-precision and high-quality image data. This kind of methodology can moreover provide a comprehensive understanding of the data in the context of a wider population (92).

Flow cytometry is another powerful tool which is commonly used to assess phagocytosis. It allows for the quantification of fluorescently labeled targets and phagocytes in a high-throughput manner. In this method, preys are typically fluorescently labeled, and phagocytosis is then quantified by measuring the fluorescence intensity of the phagocytic cells. Flow cytometry allows the rapid analysis of a large number of cells, providing statistical robustness. It can also differentiate between phagocytic cells and non-phagocytic cells within a mixed population. Some flow cytometers have the option of using multi-well plates which allows for the rapid sequential assessment of samples. This can be especially useful when testing many differing conditions. Nonetheless, like microscopy, distinguishing between prey that have been internalized by the cell and those that are simply adhering to the cell surface can pose a challenge. Techniques akin to those used in fluorescence microscopy may be employed to overcome this issue. For instance, dyes that are sensitive to pH changes can be utilized, as they become more fluorescent when the pH decreases. Yet, their use can be somewhat difficult, as these dyes often have limited stability. This can result in inconsistent increases in fluorescence, making their interpretation difficult. While there are certainly many

challenges to assessing phagocytosis by flow cytometry, the ability to rapidly capture thousands of phagocytic events can offer some significant advantages if the correct experimental setup is chosen (93). This topic will be revisited in Chapter 4 when we discuss Paper I.

For more detailed mechanistic studies of phagocytosis, biochemical assays such as phagosome isolation can be employed. This involves the isolation of phagosomes following particle engulfment and their subsequent analysis to understand the molecular changes occurring during phagosome maturation. This can be achieved using a variety of methods, including the use of prey with certain physical properties such as latex beads. Phagosomes containing latex beads become buoyant in nature and can therefore be easily collected after centrifugation (94). The drawback with this method is that one cannot assess the phagosomes containing prey other latex beads. Therefore, another method has become popular whereby magnetic particles are covalently bound to the prey of interest. After cell disruption this allows for straightforward phagosome purification using magnets (95,96). While these methods can provide detailed molecular insights, they are technically demanding and may not be applicable to all research questions.

To summarize, the choice of method to assess phagocytosis largely depends on the specific research question, available resources, and technical expertise. While each technique has its strengths and weaknesses, a combination of methods is often used to gain a more comprehensive understanding of phagocytosis. For instance, initial high-throughput screening can be complemented by detailed imaging studies or molecular analysis of the phagocytic process. As the field advances, we anticipate the development of novel technologies that will allow even more precise and comprehensive exploration of phagocytosis, enhancing our understanding of this vital immune defense mechanism.

2. Fibronectin

Sticky Business: Fibronectin's Key Roles and Features

Fibronectin (Fn), a high-molecular-weight glycoprotein, is a crucial component of the extracellular matrix (ECM) that plays a pivotal role in various cellular processes (97). The multifaceted nature of Fn becomes clear in a historical context since it was essentially discovered many times over by researchers working in very different fields. This meant that over the years it was designated at least 8 different names (98). This began to change in the early 1970s when a team of researchers, led by Richard Hynes at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, set out to understand the mechanisms that regulate cell adhesion. At the time, it was known that cells adhere to one another and to the extracellular matrix (ECM), a complex network of proteins and other molecules that provides structural and biochemical support to cells. However, the specific molecules involved in cell adhesion remained a mystery. To uncover these molecules, Hynes and his team employed a novel method. They used mutated fibroblast cells that exhibited defective adhesion characteristics and used them as a model to identify the molecules that normal, adherent cells possess. After analyzing the proteins produced by the fibroblasts, they noticed a large protein that was missing in the transformed, non-adherent cells. This protein, first named 'large, external, transformation-sensitive (LETS) protein' was present in the ECM and was found to be critical for cell adhesion (99). Hynes at first thought that he had found a universal molecular switch allowing for cancer development since it was absent in tumor cells, however, this theory was relatively short-lived. We now know that malignant transformation is far more complicated due to the inherently complex nature of cancer. Shortly after Hynes discovery, a number of other research groups independently discovered the protein and even realized that it was in fact the same protein than the cold-insoluble globulin discovered during World War II (100). It was then, in the late 1970s that Vaheri and colleagues from the University of Helsinki finally settled on a common name: Fn (101).

Typically, Fn exists as a dimer, composed of two subunits that are almost identical, each weighing ~250-270 kDa. These subunits are covalently linked by two disulfide bonds close to their C-terminal ends. Every subunit is made up of three different repeating units, known as Fn repeats. These include type I, type II, and type III repeats (**Fig. 4**). Notably, within these repeating units lie crucial binding sites. One

of the most significant is the RGD (Arginine-Glycine-Aspartate) site, a tripeptide sequence found within the 10th type III repeat (FNIII₁₀) that is critical for the binding of some integrins. Additionally, there is the synergy site, located adjacent to the RGD sequence (within FNIII₉), which amplifies the binding affinity of integrins to the RGD site (102). These critical sites, amongst others, facilitate interactions with other proteins, marking the intricate nature of Fn's role in cellular processes (**Fig. 4**). Here, it is noteworthy that all three types of FN repeats are also present in other molecules, implying that Fn likely evolved through a process known as exon shuffling (103).



Figure 4

Schematic representation of both a plasma- and cellular Fn homodimer whereby one subunit of each is shown greyed out. Monomers are linked via two C-terminal disulfide bonds. Every Fn monomer is comprised of three distinct repeating units, known as FN repeats: type I (magenta squares), type II (blue octagons), and type III (green ovals). Fn features 12 type I repeats, 2 type II repeats, and 15-17 type III repeats. The top segment of the illustration represents plasma Fn which lacks any alternatively spliced repeats. The bottom segment features cellular Fn. This may encompass two optional FNIII domains (EIIIA/EIIIB) and a single FNIII variable region (V). Interaction sites are highlighted by colored rounded rectangles showing their approximate binding sites within the Fn molecule. Host ligand interaction sites are shown highlighted in lavender and integrin binding sites in yellow whereby these include the specific peptide sequences. Bacterial binding sites are shown highlighted in red.

Even so all Fn molecules are derived from one gene, the ensuing protein can manifest in several forms. This diversity is due to alternative splicing of a single pre-mRNA molecule, potentially leading to as many as 20 different splice variants. A significant splicing event occurs within the central group of type III repeats, from FNIII₇ to FNIII₁₅. The inclusion or exclusion of either of the two type III repeats – EDA and EDB – is dictated by whether their corresponding exons are utilized or skipped during the splicing process. Another area of alternative splicing is found in a distinct segment known as the V (variable in length) or IIICS (type III connecting segment) region (104). All these Fn splice variants are roughly categorized as cellular Fn while Fn lacking any of these alternatively spliced regions is referred to as plasma Fn (**Fig. 4**). The exact roles of these various Fn isoforms have, in many instances, remained a mystery. However, in recent years significant progress has been made in unraveling the multifaceted roles of the Fn splice variants. They display distinct distribution patterns in various tissues and are selectively produced in response to different physiological conditions such as growth, wound healing, and differentiation. However, altered splicing of Fn has also been associated with various pathological conditions, including cancer and fibrosis, highlighting the significance of understanding these Fn splicing patterns (105).

Fn's diverse functionality is in part owed to its many binding sites which facilitate its interaction with other ECM proteins, cell surface receptors, and molecules, creating an intricate network that is fundamental to the structural and functional integrity of tissues (102). Importantly, Fn acts as a bridge between cells and their surroundings through its interaction with integrins, a family of cell surface receptors. This connection not only provides physical anchorage but also transduces signals from the ECM to the cells' interior, influencing cell shape, movement, growth, differentiation, and survival. This dynamic interplay is fundamental to cellular behavior and tissue organization (97,106,107). Some of Fn's many interaction partners including ECM ligands, integrins, and GAS virulence factors their binding sites within the Fn molecule can be seen in Figure 4. Fn has been found to be instrumental in a number of physiological processes. For example, during embryonic development, Fn guides cells to their appropriate locations, thereby aiding in tissue formation and organogenesis (108,109). Fn plays a crucial role in hemostasis, as it promotes platelet adhesion and aggregation at sites of vascular injury, contributing to the formation of a blood clot (110). Finally, to enable wound healing. Fn assists in the formation of a fibrin-Fn clot, acting as a temporary scaffold for the various migrating cell types involved in the process of wound healing (111). Despite its many beneficial roles, Fn has a darker side. Its altered expression, organization, or functionality have been associated with various pathological conditions. For instance, an excess of Fn has been observed in fibrotic diseases, where excessive ECM accumulation leads to tissue scarring and organ dysfunction (112). Conversely, reduced plasma Fn levels have been associated with systemic bleeding disorders (110). Furthermore, Fn's role in cancer is complex and multifaceted; it can both inhibit and promote tumor progression depending on the context (113,114).

In conclusion, this versatile glycoprotein serves as a fundamental player in the realm of cell biology. Its complex roles range from supporting embryonic development
and wound healing to maintaining hemostasis and modulating cellular functions. At the same time, dysregulation in Fn pathways can lead to pathological conditions, presenting potential therapeutic targets. As we continue to learn more about this remarkable protein, we gain insight not only into the intricacies of the biological processes it enables but also into novel therapeutic strategies which may in the future be used to combat various diseases.

Fibronectin and Integrins: A Gripping Interaction in Cell Biology

A substantial portion of Fn's function is executed through its interaction with integrins. This group of transmembrane proteins serves as bridges between the extracellular matrix and the intracellular cytoskeleton (115). The discovery of integrins, a family of transmembrane proteins, marked a pivotal moment in cell biology, opening new vistas of understanding into how cells interact with their surrounding environment. The journey of uncovering integrins began in the 1970s with 3 various researchers, Richard Hynes (yes, that Richard Hynes), Erkki Ruoslahti, and Timothy Springer independently making observations that would eventually lead to the recognition of this crucial family of proteins (116).

In the early 1970s the hypothesis had begun to arise that connections must exist, linking the ECM with the actin-based cytoskeleton. By 1976, Fn had been identified as the likely ECM component allowing for this interaction. It was Hynes, who suggested the existence of an 'integral protein or proteins that might link the two' (117). This connection between actin and Fn was then independently verified multiple times in the ensuing years (118–120). For several years, the hypothesized "Fn receptor" was viewed as the ultimate pursuit or the 'Holy Grail' within the field (121). It wasn't until the mid 1980s that some key discoveries allowed for its eventual identification. One crucial step was the development of two mAbs, raised against chicken myoblasts - JG22 and CSAT. Both were found to interfere with the adhesion of avian myoblasts to ECM protein-coated surfaces (122,123). These mAbs turned out to be invaluable tools and were used by Hynes, and many others to isolate the Fn receptors from cell lysates. Another important finding was the identification of the tetrapeptide sequence RGDS as the minimal cell-binding sequence by Ruoslahti. This peptide allowed for the efficient capture and assessment of receptors for both Fn and vitronectin (Vn) (124,125). In the meantime, Hynes had been investigating another lead. He had previously seen that Fn leads to the spreading of platelets. Other groups had further investigated this phenomenon and identified two platelet surface proteins involved in the binding to fibrinogen: Glycoprotein IIb/IIIa (GPIIb/IIIa) (126,127). They soon also found evidence that the same proteins were involved in the binding to Fn suggesting a

common binding site (128). By late 1985 Hynes had successfully cloned and sequenced one of the avian proteins he had isolated with the CSAT mAb. The sequence unveiled a transmembrane protein, showcasing numerous unique and intriguing structural characteristics. It was then that he finally decided to give it a name: integrin. He reportedly chose the name since it described an 'integral membrane protein complex linking the extracellular matrix to the cytoskeleton' (121,129).

In the meantime, Timothy Springer had been studying receptors on the surface of lymphoid and myeloid cells. Although he did not yet realize it at the time, he was also on the verge of discovering integrins. In 1979 he discovered MAC-1 and just two years later he also discovered LFA-1 (130,131). These were both observed to help the cells adhere to and move through the walls of blood vessels – a crucial immune process known as extravasation. These proteins, also heterodimers shared many similarities with GPIIb/IIIa and were even suggested to include the same β subunit (132). Although this was later disproven, it was this paper that brought Hynes and Springer together. At this point Springer had also successfully determined the sequence of the β subunit shared between LFA-1 and MAC-1. It didn't take long for them to realize that this protein was clearly a homologue of Hynes' avian integrin subunit since they shared key characteristic patterns. A few months later, when the sequencing of GPIIb, GPIIIa, and other Fn/Vn receptors was completed it finally became clear that integrins encompass a complex family of transmembrane proteins shared by distant vertebrate classes (Mammals and Aves) (133 - 136).

The realization that these findings were interconnected was transformative. It turned out that integrins are obligate heterodimers, made up of an alpha (α) and a beta (β) subunit. Remarkably, there are 18 α and 8 β subunits known in humans. These can combine to form 24 distinct integrins, each with unique binding properties and functions (137). Further, it has become clear that integrins are found in all multicellular animals and even plants possess integrin-like receptors – a striking example of evolutionary conservation (138).

The discovery of integrins was fundamental for our understanding of cell biology. These proteins do not merely act as mechanical links between the ECM and the cell's cytoskeleton. They are dynamic structures, transmitting bidirectional signals across the cell membrane (139). On the one hand, they transduce information from the ECM and environment to the cell, guiding processes such as cell migration, proliferation, and differentiation – a process known as outside-in signaling (140). On the other hand, they communicate the cell's status to the outside, altering their adhesion and migration properties in response to changes in the cell – so-called inside-out signaling (141). Furthermore, integrins are crucial for the assembly and remodeling of the ECM, impacting tissue development, maintenance, and repair. They are also involved in various pathological processes, including inflammation, autoimmune diseases, and cancer metastasis (142). Hence, understanding these

interactions at a molecular level could reveal potential targets for therapeutic intervention.

Among the array of integrins, the beta-2 (β 2) subfamily stands out since they are exclusively expressed on leukocytes (143). These integrins primarily interact with cell adhesion molecules on the surface of other cells rather than the extracellular matrix (144). Beta2 integrins are crucial in mediating immune cell adhesion, migration, and activation, which explains why they need to recognize a wide range of ligands (143). The integrin α M β 2, (also known as CR3, MAC-1, or CD11b/CD18) has many times over been shown to interact with Fn (145–147). While there are findings indicating that the α M β 2-Fn interaction is critical for respiratory burst in neutrophils (148) there is still an overall lack of evidence regarding the physiological significance of this interaction. It is, however, plausible that it is particularly important during inflammation, where Fn is often upregulated.

To conclude, the interaction between Fn and integrins represents a cornerstone of cell biology. It allowed scientists to understand the dynamic nature of cell adhesion as well as the intricate crosstalk between cells and their environment. This, in turn, has had profound implications for our understanding of embryonic development, immunology, and disease. While initially identified as leukocyte and Fn receptors, integrins have now emerged as versatile proteins interacting with a multitude of ligands, with Fn being one of the key partners. The 'promiscuous' $\alpha M\beta^2$ integrin exhibits a unique adaptability in its ligand recognition, and its interaction with Fn seen under certain circumstances adds another layer of complexity to this dynamic relationship. The interaction between $\alpha M\beta^2$ integrin and Fn will be further discussed in Chapter 4 regarding the findings in Paper IV.

Bacterial Fibronectin Binding Proteins: When Host Proteins Go Rogue

In the dynamic interplay between host and pathogen, bacteria have evolved intricate strategies to exploit host systems to their advantage. Fn has emerged as a notable target of several bacterial pathogens. These have devised mechanisms to bind to Fn and utilize it as a bridge for adherence to host tissues, facilitating infection, and evading host defense mechanisms (149,150). Interestingly, specifically a wide range of host-associated bacteria have evolved Fn-binding proteins (FnBP) that allow them to bind Fn and exploit its functions. FnBPs are expressed on the surface of both pathogens and commensals, facilitating the interaction between bacteria and host cells. In pathogens, certain FnBPs enhance virulence by aiding in the attachment to host cells, epithelial cell invasion, and disruption of signaling pathways. While FnBPs in non-pathogenic commensal strains do not suffice to

cause virulence, they play a vital role in enabling these organisms to attach to and remain within their specific bodily niches.

Over 100 FnBPs have been identified across various bacterial species, highlighting that Fn binding is an essential, evolutionarily conserved feature. These FnBPs exhibit great diversity and can bind Fn through various mechanisms. Some bind to the so-called 'canonical' bacterial Fn binding site located in the modules FNI1-5. This region is also required for the binding of Fn to heparin, fibroblasts, and fibrin (Fig. 4). It earnt this name since it was the first identified bacterial binding site on Fn and many FnBPs from a number of bacteria bind to it – especially Gram-positive cocci. This binding occurs with the so called canonical Fn binding repeats (149). For example, the homologous FnBPs F1 and Sfb1 expressed by certain GAS strains contain such repeats (151). However, these were later shown to also contain a region recognizing the FNI₆-FNI₉ region (152). After the initial binding interaction between canonical FnBPs was characterized a number of novel FnBPs with distinct binding patterns emerged. These FnBPs lacked the characteristic Fn binding repeats and interacted with other segments of the Fn molecule. For example, the M-like protein, Protein H, was found to bind to the Fn via the FNIII repeats instead of FNI (153). Another example is the 54-kDa protein Fbp54 which lacks all typical Fnbinding sequences. While it was initially identified in streptococci, divergent homologs of this protein have been discovered in a wide range of host-associated bacteria. These include streptococci, lactococci, lactobacilli, clostridia, listeria, pneumococci, enterococci, and bacilli (149). The identification of these unique FnBPs allowed for a fresh perspective where bacterial proteins, previously known for other functions, also serve as FnBPs (149). These multifunctional proteins are especially interesting because, although it has been possible to approximate the binding site on the Fn molecule, the actual amino acid sequences within Fn and the FnBPs have often remained elusive. At this point, most portions of the Fn molecule have thus far been identified as potential binding sites for FnBPs (Fig 4) -atestament to the degree of adaptation between bacteria and host. Finally, the M1 protein serves as another striking example of this protein multifunctionality. Not only does it possess the ability to bind to Fn, it also exhibits several other functions such as binding to fibrinogen (Fb), IgG, and glycosaminoglycans (GAG) (154-156).

The interaction between Fn and bacteria offers an illustrative example of how pathogens as well as commensals use host systems to promote their survival and establishment within the host. Understanding these interactions is crucial, as it may provide novel targets for therapeutic intervention against pathogens. The fascinating world of bacterial interactions with Fn is a testament to the complex battle between host, pathogen, and commensal. A dance of survival that continues to shape the evolution of all parties involved. The M1 protein and other GAS virulence factors will be further discussed in Chapter 3.

3. Group A Streptococcus (GAS)

GAS Chronicles: From Childbed Fever to Science's Frontiers

The knowledge of illness caused by streptococci dates back many centuries. References to the illness 'erysipelas' (red skin) as well as the symptoms of childbed fever can be found in Hippocrates' ancient texts from the 4th century BC (157). It wasn't until the 16th century AD that these diseases were then divided into separate health conditions. It was Giovanni Filippo Ingrassias, a Sicilian anatomist and practitioner, who first described a disease termed "rossalia" that was characterized by 'numerous spots, large and small, fiery and red, of universal distribution, so that the whole body appeared to be on fire' (158). Numerous theories about the origin of diseases arose in the subsequent centuries. People associated their emergence with astronomical events such as comets and eclipses or believed in the transmission of diseases via odors and vapors. Significant strides in understanding the causes of diseases weren't made until the 17th century. It was then that Anton van Leeuwenhoek, a Dutch draper, became interested in experimenting with lenses to improve thread quality assessment. These experiments led to the creation of ever more powerful lenses which eventually allowed him to see into the microbial realm. His impressive microscope allowed for the identification of previously unknown life forms. These 'little bloodless animals', as he described them, were later identified as bacteria, and included cocci, bacilli, and spirochetes (Fig. 5) (159,160). This marked a significant breakthrough since it was in 1736 that a Dutch surgeon, treating a patient with a wound infection, correctly attributed it to 'Leeuwenhoek's little animals' and found that they were killed by treatment with mercury (161).



Figure 5

A figure included in a letter sent by Leeuwenhoek to the Royal Society in 1683. The figure shows drawings by Leeuwenhoek of bacteria from his mouth; the dotted line portrays movement (162). Copyright © The Royal Society.

Although bacteria's existence was now established, their role as disease-causing agents wasn't yet accepted by the scientific and medical communities. It was not until 1842 that a young Hungarian physician, Ignaz Semmelweis, began working in the obstetric wards of the Vienna and saw a connection between sanitation and deadly disease. He noticed that women giving birth with the assistance of physicians and medical students were almost 10-times more likely to die than those who were attended to by midwives. He observed that the physicians and medicals students first went to the participate in autopsies and did not wash their hands before attending to their patients. This resulted in his hypothesis that the increased rates of childbed fever, also known as puerperal fever, were caused by the physical transmission of a disease entity from cadavers to the patients. In 1847 he ordered all medical personnel to adhere to strict sanitary guidelines including the washing of hands in a chlorinated lime solution. This resulted in a remarkably reduced mortality

rate due to puerperal fever – from 11.4% to 2.7%. Semmelweis had accomplished an impressive feat; by making astute scientific observations he was able to save many lives and even pioneered the use of statistics to prove his hypothesis. Nevertheless, he was shunned and mocked by his immediate superiors and eventually returned to Budapest where he later, in 1861, published his findings (163). Despite his extraordinary accomplishments, it was not until 14 years after his death in 1865 that his findings were fully recognized by the scientific establishment (164).

It was the Austrian surgeon Theodor Billroth who first formally identified streptococcal microbes in cases of ervsipelas and wound infections in 1874. He described 'small organisms (Kettenkokken) as found in either isolated or arranged in pairs, sometimes in chains of four to twenty or more links (Streptococcus; Greek: strepto, a chain, and coccus, a berry).' (165). These findings were extended when Louis Pasteur was able to isolate the microbes from the uteruses and blood of women with puerperal fever. For the first time there was proof that these bacteria were the causative agent behind the disease that resulted in the highest mortality rates among women and newborns (166). The nomenclature was further refined by Friedrich Julius Rosenbach in 1884, when he analyzed bacteria from pus-filled wounds and named the species Streptococcus pyogenes, deriving from the Greek words for 'pus forming' (167). The differentiation of streptococci was further enabled by the invention of blood agar plates by Hugo Schottmüller in 1903 (168). This was possible since the various types of streptococci interacted differently with the blood resulting in varying forms of hemolysis. These could be seen as hemolytic rings around the bacterial colonies. Streptococcus pyogenes was identified as being beta-hemolytic, meaning that the blood agar would become clear.

Around the same time, Dochez, Avery, and Lancefield began experimenting with immunological methods to show variances among S. haemolyticus strains (169). In 1933, Lancefield subdivided streptococci into groups A through X based on their surface antigenic differences (86). The categorization of groups was based on the animals affected by the strains. As Streptococcus pyogenes infects humans, it was classified under Lancefield group A, thereby earning its alternative name: group A streptococcus. The continued use of this terminology has been criticized by some since in reality it does not fully distinguish S. pyogenes from other streptococcal species – the cell walls of both S. dysgalactiae and S. anginosus can possess the A antigen as well. However, many consider the debate of 'correct' terminology redundant since the designations 'group A streptococcus' and 'Streptococcus pyogenes' have essentially become synonyms and no other streptococci are generally referred to as such. More recently, the differentiation between various GAS strains has become routinely possible through molecular methods, such as emm-typing. This is done by using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) to amplify the gene that encodes the M protein (emm) which varies between strains (170,171). So far over 240 distinct emm types have been identified (172). This has allowed for a

better understanding of the epidemiological prevalence of specific emm types and their global tracking (173). This extraordinary level of diversity amongst emm genes has inevitably led to pitfalls – especially regarding largescale epidemiological analyses and vaccine development. This has prompted the development of novel classification methods that are not solely based on the genetic code of one gene (emm). One such approach is the clustering of the various emm types based on genetic as well as the functional characteristics of the encoded M protein (174). Moreover, the advancements in sequencing technologies have made techniques like multilocus sequence typing and whole genome sequencing more affordable and accessible (175,176).

Group A Streptococcus: An Exceptionally Successful Microbe

GAS is, in part, such a fascinating organism to study due to the astounding level of host-adaptation it has achieved. This adaptation becomes more fascinating given that GAS is the sole pathogenic streptococcus species known to exclusively infect humans (177). This means that its success as a species is fully dependent on the continuous infection of and transmission between humans. This narrow host adaptation is uncommon and could have spurred species diversification, as most pyogenic streptococcal species have the ability to infect a broad spectrum of mammals (178). It is now believed that the ability to infect humans as well as the emergence of GAS as a distinct species was likely made possible by the acquisition of the M-protein island, which introduced 35 universal GAS genes. These include the secreted pyogenic exotoxin SpeB and its regulator RopB. These genes are thought to have limited the bacteria's virulence and aided in the colonization of the nasopharynx (178,179). Yet, it does seem odd that bacterial evolution would result in the restriction to a single host reservoir. One would imagine that bacteria with a broad range of hosts would have more opportunities to proliferate and thus have an evolutionary advantage. Conversely, GAS is one of the most successful human pathogens, infecting more than half a billion people every year (180). Was it this newfound ability to stably colonize the nasopharynx that made GAS such an exceptionally successful species?

When GAS infects a host, the ensuing host-pathogen interaction can be roughly divided into 3 categories:

Invasive: this includes severe, life-threatening diseases such as **necrotizing fasciitis** (commonly referred to as the flesh-eating disease, is a bacterial infection that leads to the decay and death of the body's soft tissue (181)), **sepsis** (also known as blood poisoning, is a critical health condition that occurs when the body's reaction to an infection inflicts damage on its own tissues and organs (182)), and

streptococcal toxic shock syndrome (STSS is characterized by a sudden onset of shock, multi-organ failure, and a rash that can lead to skin peeling. It is one of the most serious and life-threatening complications of GAS infections (183)). These infections are very rare and make up roughly 0.001% of all symptomatic infections (184).

Symptomatic superficial: this category includes diseases that are less severe and generally self-limiting in nature. Examples include **pharyngitis** (commonly referred to as strep throat; pharyngitis refers to the swelling of the pharynx, the area at the back of the throat, and is commonly characterized by symptoms like a sore throat and fever (185)), **impetigo** (an infection affecting the outer layers of the skin, often manifesting as yellow crusts on the face, arms, or legs (186)), and **scarlet fever** (refers to a clinical condition marked by the occurrence of a diffuse erythematous rash in conjunction with a superficial GAS infection, typically pharyngitis (187)). These infections are common, representing over 99% of all symptomatic infections (184). While these infections generally resolve spontaneously, if left untreated they may lead to immune-mediated disorders including **acute rheumatic fever** and **acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis**(188). The former is especially problematic since it can result in the development of **rheumatic heart disease** (RHD) (189,190).

Asymptomatic carriage: GAS can also infect humans without causing any symptoms. This is especially common amongst schoolchildren where pharyngeal colonization rates have been seen to reach as high as 15–26% (191,192). Though GAS-related disease burden is high, the observed high rates of asymptomatic carriage in the population have even led to suggestions that GAS is an opportunistic pathogen rather than an obligate one (193).

These various forms of infection can occur consecutively or independently. The characteristics of an infection are determined by an interplay between the infectious agent and its host. The presence and relative frequency of the various types of infections can thus be attributed to variations in either or both the pathogen and the host (194). Although many studies have primarily placed an emphasis on invasive infections, it is important to remember that they only constitute a very small portion of all infections (180). Moreover, the distribution of global GAS infections is highly unequal with a disproportionate share of the cases occurring in developing nations, within indigenous communities, and in economically disadvantaged areas of developed countries (195). Children and adolescents are at a higher risk for GAS infections, with the peak incidence of strep throat occurring between the ages of 0 and 15 (196). Other groups at risk include individuals with underlying health conditions (197), the elderly (198), and pregnant as well as post-partum women (199). GAS is primarily transmitted through respiratory droplets or direct contact with infected individuals. This means that any instance which results in the dense gathering of people is associated with higher risks of infection. Outbreak-prone areas have been found to include nurseries, schools, elderly care homes, military bases, and homeless shelters (200–202). This explains why outbreaks follow seasonal patterns in temperate climates. In the colder months people tend to congregate indoors, increasing the likelihood of close contact and transmission. Evidently, the factors that increase GAS transmission disproportionately affect and sicken already vulnerable and disadvantaged populations. Further, it is exactly these communities that have limited healthcare access, meaning that more of these infections remain untreated. In fact, 97% of all documented yearly GAS infections occur in the Global South and these figures are likely an underestimation since many cases likely go undocumented (195,203,204).

For many years the main focus of GAS research was focused on invasive infections. This is likely because superficial disease caused by GAS had essentially become a matter of no concern in the Global North. Continuous access to health care, nutritious food, and adequate housing are just some of the factors that have reduced the disease burden of high socioeconomic status populations. Perhaps most importantly, this has led to a steep decline in RHD cases in these areas. While superficial infections are generally self-limiting, guidelines recommended that they be treated with antibiotics. This is because, amongst other reasons, it has been shown to prevent rheumatic fever which can lead to RHD (205,206). In fact, it seemed as if RHD had almost been forgotten as a direct consequence of GAS infection while simultaneously the disease was leading to a staggering amount of mortality and morbidity in resource-limited settings. Further, until recently it had been assumed that only a small subgroup of emm type strains can cause RHD. This meant that emm types were classified as either rheumatogenic or non-rheumatigenic depending whether they contained 'rheumatogenic motifs'. However, initially only 10 of the over >240 currently identified emm types were thought to be rheumatogenic. This theory is now being challenged with many more emm types being found to be associated with RHD than previously assumed (207). When regarding the global prevalence rates of death and injury caused by RHD, a depressingly clear pattern emerges. Western European countries have particularly low rates. All but a few outliers have rates below 0.05 per 1000 children. In stark contrast, many countries in Sub-Saharan Africa show rates more than 150-times as high (208) (Fig. 6). A study from 2019 estimated that RHD and RHD related disorders led to almost 3times more deaths than invasive GAS infections (209). This doesn't even take into account the over 10 million disability-adjusted life years caused by RHD (210). In the past years, progress has been made in the academic sphere, where many publications have highlighted the neglected burden of RHD and how it is intensified by global wealth inequities (211-216). Suggested approaches designed to prevent or treat GAS infections should be practical, readily available, and cost-effective, particularly in areas with limited resources (217). At present, there is no approved vaccine available to manage GAS infections, but efforts are being made to create one (218). The advancement of such a vaccine has encountered obstacles, including the existence of numerous distinct GAS serotypes, changes in antigens within a single serotype, safety issues, and a lack of agreement on clinical endpoints needed

to establish proof of concept (219). Research suggests that a vaccine could be instrumental in decreasing the prevalence of these diseases, strongly advocating for its development and implementation (219–221). Finally, the World Health Assembly recently unanimously adopted a Global Resolution calling for better control and prevention of GAS infections and RHD (222). This signals a newfound understanding for the gravity of the situation – especially amongst high-income countries. Overall, significant advancements are being realized across basic scientific, clinical, translational, and population-level research. The answers to these challenges are within reach, and with sufficient funding, we have the potential to considerably diminish the worldwide impact of diseases caused by GAS within our generation.



Figure 6

Prevalence of rheumatic heart disease resulting in injury or death in children aged 5-14 in the year 2019 (cases per 1000). No data was available for countries shaded in grey. The data is derived from the Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network (208) and the map was created with Datawrapper.

GAS Virulence Factors: A Formidable Arsenal

The nasopharynx presents a particularly difficult environment for bacteria to thrive in. Challenges include a mucus layer that hinders the bacteria's ability to attach to epithelial cells, a scarcity of nutrients like glucose, other commensal bacteria which compete for these nutrients, and considerable environmental fluctuations concerning temperature, oxygen, and pH levels. All things considered, it makes sense that GAS would need to be highly adapted to accomplish stable infections within such a niche and even thrive whilst doing so. Much of this adaptation comes in the form of an extensive array of virulence factors (VF) that GAS deploys. These specialized proteins bolster the bacterium's abilities to not only initiate an infection but also establish a stable foothold within this harsh, unforgiving niche. To provide an overview I have decided to divide these VFs into 4 categories, whereby these are not always mutually exclusive:

Adhesins: These factors include various surface proteins that allow GAS to attach to host tissues, recognizing and binding specifically to host components such as Fn, collagen, and laminin (223). Examples of these include pili, M protein, Fn-binding proteins, and lipoteichoic acid (LTA). The importance of these adhesion virulence factors lies in their essential role in colonization and infection by anchoring the bacteria to host cells and the ECM. It is theorized that the initial attachment of bacteria occurs in a two-step process. It begins with weak and/or long-range interactions and is then followed by more specific and high-affinity binding (224). According to this hypothesis cell wall-bound LTA combined with far-reaching pili are able to facilitate initial, weak adhesion to host components. Once GAS has been brought into closer proximity to host cells and the ECM the second stage of adhesion can begin. This stage involves the occurrence of multiple high-affinity binding events such as protein-protein or glycan-protein interactions. One such high-affinity binding mechanism could include the M1 protein's ability to recognize and bind to the ABO(H) blood group antigens, which are found abundantly expressed within the nasopharyeal niche (225). Moreover, many adhesins are also known as 'invasins' since they have been found to allow GAS to become internalized into epithelial cells where they can remain hidden from the immune system (226). Another function of these proteins extends beyond tissue adhesion to the binding of functional host proteins on the bacterial surface, a process that can be exploited to benefit the bacterium.

Enzymatic: These secreted, enzymatically active VFs are numerous and crucial for both initiating infection in the host and maintaining it over the long term. For instance, the streptococcal cysteine proteinase (SpeB) stands as one of the most extensively researched GAS virulence factors. As a broad-spectrum protease, it has the remarkable capability to cleave over 200 host proteins, affecting both immune defense-related proteins and extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins. This dual function means it is vital for both the persistence and spread of the bacteria within the host (227). Other examples include streptolysin O (SLO) which is an enzyme that can lyse a broad range of host cells, as well as NAD⁺ glycohydrolase (NADase) which acts synergistically with SLO to cause severe cytotoxicity (227). In fact, it has recently been shown that NADase activity can greatly influence disease severity by interfering in the innate immune system's capacity to sense bacterial second messenger molecules (228). Since these enzymatic VFs are differentially expressed, they can be essential in determining the virulence of certain GAS isolates (229).

Toxins: GAS toxins are essential to the virulence and pathogenesis of infections caused by GAS. Notably, there is significant overlap with the previous category, as

many of these toxins possess enzymatic activity - the most prominent example being the aforementioned mentioned SpeB. However, there are a number of other Spe variants which are not enzymatically active whereby SpeA and SpeC are best studied. These secreted exotoxins are known as superantigens (SAgs), whereby SAgs are characterized as potent immunomodulatory proteins which can trigger a non-specific, excessive immune response and have been shown to be linked to severe disease outcomes (230,231). After secretion by GAS, SAgs are initially taken up by APCs which present them on their surface via MHC class II molecules. The particular structure of these toxins means that they can be recognized by a wide range of TCRs by engaging their lateral surfaces (232). This leads to an unspecific activation of a large portion of the body's T cells, triggering the release of inflammatory cytokines. This fulminant release of cytokines is partly to blame for conditions such as scarlet fever, sepsis, and STSS (233). Moreover, this promiscuous activation of T cells by SAgs can make these hyporesponsive and less capable of mounting an appropriate immune response to the pathogen (234). These SAgs are differentially expressed between isolates and have been linked to certain prophages carrying the necessary genes (235). GAS also secretes the widely studied toxin streptolysin S (SLS). This is a non-enzymatically active cytolytic toxin that can lyse a wide range of mammalian cells and is responsible for the typical β haemolysis pattern which appears around colonies grown on blood agar (236). Finally, the multifunctional M protein can also function as a toxin. This occurs when it is cleaved from the bacterial surface by bacterial of host proteases (237). Especially soluble M1 has been widely studied and has been shown to activate neutrophils, monocytes, and T cells. This activation is, in fact, so potent that some have suggested it be considered a novel SAg (238). Overall, the importance of these toxins lies in their ability to aid the bacteria in evading the host's defense mechanisms and contributing to the severity and progression of disease.

Anti-phagocytic factors: It is important to recognize that these factors largely fall into the initial three categories. However, due to the abundance of GAS virulence factors (VFs) that specifically resist phagocytosis, I believe they warrant special mention. These include a collection of anti-phagocytic proteins that contribute to the ability of GAS to evade phagocytosis by host phagocytes. This protects the bacterium from phagocytic killing which represents the main host clearance mechanism for extracellular pathogens. This enhances the bacterium's ability to infect and persist within a host (226). A specific mechanism involves an M-like protein, known as protein H, which can bind the human complement inhibitor C4BP. This binding results in reduced complement deposition on the bacterial surface, thus decreasing the ligands available for phagocytic CRs (239). M protein, which will be discussed in more detail in the next chapter, has also been shown to exhibit anti-phagocytic properties through similar mechanisms. Notably, both these examples fit into both the adhesin and anti-phagocytic categories, as they include the sequestration of a human protein. Another example is the cysteine protease IdeS which specifically targets and cleaves human IgG. Since this cleavage occurs just

below the IgG hinge region this results in $F(ab')_2$ fragments lacking Fc domains. These Abs will still bind but can no longer serve as opsonins for phagocytes (240). Similarly, the endoglycosidase EndoS is a protein that can specifically cleave the N-linked glycan from IgG. This loss of glycosylation has a substantial effect on IgGmediated effector functions including phagocytosis and complement deposition (241,242).

It is clear that GAS' pathogenicity can largely be attributed to its diverse array of virulence factors. In this chapter, we've highlighted only a selection of them, as covering the full spectrum would be beyond the scope of a single chapter. It's worth noting that GAS also boasts virulence factors that don't conform to the four previously described categories. A prime example is the secreted virulence factor, streptokinase, which has been explicitly linked to virulence. Within the host environment, streptokinase serves to transform the host's inactive zymogen plasminogen into its active form, plasmin. Interestingly, this transformation doesn't occur through enzymatic action but instead is achieved by inducing a conformational shift within the target protein. As an enzyme, plasmin has the ability to break down blood clots and the ECM, effectively clearing the way for bacterial dissemination. This unique mechanism has been demonstrated as vital in facilitating the spread of GAS to various other locations within the host (243). Interestingly, certain GAS M proteins have evolved the capability to bind plasminogen. This mechanism secures the zymogen in proximity, ensuring a robust surface presence of plasmin that can be exploited by GAS. This particular function has been identified as vital for virulence in animal studies (244). This demonstrates yet another instance where GAS's VFs operate synergistically, reflecting a finely tuned equilibrium that has arisen through millennia of co-evolution with the human host. In the following chapter, we will examine the GAS M protein in greater detail - a fascinating molecule that has, in many respects, become emblematic of this pathogen.

The Streptococcal M Protein: An Intriguing Enigma

The M protein is one of the key virulence factors produced by GAS and plays a crucial role in the pathogenicity of this bacterium. It is found projecting approximately 500-1000 Å from the GAS surface in the form of hair-like structures (245,246). This means that the M protein is ideally positioned to engage with host components and play a multifaceted role in GAS infections. M protein aids in GAS' adhesion to host cells (225), intracellular invasion (247), formation of bacterial aggregates that boost resistance to phagocytosis and enhance host cell binding (248), counteracting antimicrobial peptides (249), triggering clotting and severe inflammation (250), and establishing GAS biofilms (251). M protein is also well known for preventing Abs and complement from being deposited on the bacterial surface, allowing GAS to circumvent leukocyte-mediated phagocytosis and thrive

in the host (252). Importantly, it is also implicated in triggering Abs that can crossreact with host proteins leading to autoimmune responses such as RHD (253). This has presented a significant obstacle to the creation of a GAS vaccine based on the M protein (254). The numerous roles of M protein can be explained by its interactions with numerous host elements. For such a versatile protein, M protein showcases a seemingly straightforward α -helical coiled-coil structure. Intriguingly, protein structural studies have shown that, not only does the M protein constitute a nonideal, instable α -helical coiled-coil, but they have also shown that its nonideal nature is crucial for its functionality (255).

The M protein is generated in its immature form, possessing an N-terminal signal sequence and a C-terminal processing site. This N-terminal signal sequence is highly conserved between M variants and guides the M protein to the bacterial division septum where it is then cleaved by a signal peptidase (256). Next, M protein is secreted through the bacterial membrane where it is processed by the enzyme sortase. This first cleaves the protein at the "LPXTG" motif between the Thr and Gly. Then it covalently anchors the Thr residue to the peptidoglycan precursor lipid II, and eventually to the peptidoglycan itself (257). This results in a short cell wall spanning domain. After both ends are trimmed, the mature M protein is found as a homodimer made up of two identical strands. These both typically consist of around 300 to 400 residues (Fig. 7). As mentioned previously, the M protein can also be found in a soluble form. This detachment can result from the action of the streptococcal enzyme, SpeB, or from neutrophil proteases during infection (257). Notably, despite being cleaved, the protein maintains its inflammatory and coagulation-inducing attributes and can be one of the driving forces behind severe conditions such as STSS (258).



Figure 7

M proteins from various GAS strains can be classified into 3 emm patterns. Here the length of 3 representative M proteins, along with the dimensions of repeat and non-repeat sections, are depicted proportionally. A–C pattern emm-types represent the longest M proteins with roughly 230 residues in their (hyper)variable segments. In contrast, D and E patterns have (hyper)variable segments with approximately 150 and 100 residues, respectively. Most D and E pattern M proteins lack the 'A' repeats. The 'B' repeats appear in the majority of M proteins with A–C and D patterns but are mostly absent in those with E patterns. The conserved basal region contains both C and D repeats. While there are some slight differences between the C repeat segments between M proteins, the D repeats are usually highly conserved. The 'C' repeat units consist of 35 conserved residues, and these are occasionally divided by seven-residue sections known as 'C' repeat linkers. Notably, 20% of M proteins do not possess a non-helicoidal N-terminus. The hypervariable segment analyzed by the emm-typing technique is also illustrated. The M proteins M5, M80, and M77 were chosen to illustrate the structural features within each emm pattern group. Figure adapted from D. J. McMillan et al. 2013 (259).

The M protein is universally expressed by all GAS strains, however, not all strains express identical M proteins. In fact, it was the observed variability between M proteins that gave researchers the idea to use them to classify GAS strains. At first this was based on serological assays whereby immune sera were used to differentiate between M 'serotypes' (86). However, as previously mentioned, this has now been replaced by emm-typing whereby a portion of the gene encoding the M protein (emm) is assessed. This method allows for a cost-effective, rapid differentiation between distinct emm types (260). This is possible because of certain universally shared structural characteristics. The mature M protein can be roughly divided into two regions: A N-terminal (hyper)variable region ((H)VR) and a C-terminal conserved region. In this case the variability or lack thereof relates to differences between different M protein types. The N-terminal segment consists of both a

variable region, with some shared characteristics between M types, and hypervariable regions which are highly divergent in nature. The hypervariable region is found in the tip of the M protein and constitutes the region which is assessed for emm-typing (Fig. 7). While the variable regions of M proteins vary greatly in their N termini, they can also vary in other ways. Sequencing and assessment of the entire emm gene of hundreds of GAS isolates has shed more light on the structural characteristics that are either shared or dissimilar between M proteins. This has led to the determination of 3 distinct emm pattern groups, designated as A-C, D, and E patterns. All three groups exhibit conserved regions that include C repeats, C repeat linkers, and D repeats. The primary distinction between these pattern groups lies in their N-terminal variable regions. The A-C pattern showcases the most extended variable region. While A repeats are present in about 50% of A-C pattern M proteins, B repeats are consistently included. The variable region of the D pattern primarily includes B repeats, whereas the E pattern typically lacks any repeats. Another notable characteristic is the structure of the M protein's N-terminus which commonly loses its characteristic coiled-coil structure. Only roughly 20% of M proteins maintain a helicoidal N-terminus. Interestingly, the occurrence of this trait varies among emm pattern types. It's most prevalent in E pattern M proteins, found in 25%, while only appearing in about 10% of A-C pattern types. (Fig. 7) (259). Finally, it is also important to point out that roughly 75% of identified emm-types fall under the D and E pattern groups. In an epidemiological context, D and E patterns are commonly identified in situations where there are high GAS-associated mortality rates and a vast diversity of circulating emm-types. Yet, despite their significance in epidemiology, these emm-types haven't received as thorough analysis as those in the pattern A-C group. This is most likely due to the emergence of a highly virulent M1 clonal strain which is classified under the A-C group. This strain has dominated the Global North for decades and is associated with increased incidences of invasive disease (259,261).

Another important attribute of the variable N-terminal region of the M protein is the presence of imperfect repeats. These refer to the so-called heptad repeats, recurring amino acid sequences, which facilitate the formation of α -helical coiled-coil dimers (262). The conserved region typically contains regular heptad repeat patterns allowing for the formation of stable dimers at the base of the protein. In contrast, the variable regions have been shown to contain a number of imperfect heptad repeats whereby certain residues even act to destabilize the dimer. This means that certain regions of the M protein dimer are highly instable and vulnerable to environmental influences. For instance, studies reveal that the M1 protein has a propensity to unfold around temperatures of 37° C (263), which is notably aligned with the average human core body temperature (264). This means it is likely vulnerable to other factors such as organic solvents, acids, or bases. Fascinatingly, it has been shown that this instability is critical for the functionality of the M protein an abrogation of functionality (255,265). It's likely that this adaptability enables M

proteins with vastly different amino acid sequences to exhibit comparable functionality. For instance, while the B repeats of both M1 and M5 bind to fibrinogen, their sequences are markedly different, sharing only about 14% identity (257,266). Conversely, observations have been made where increased stability likely contributes to function. A case in point is the aforementioned M-like protein, protein H, which has been shown to bind C4BP. This protein shares many features above 37°C. These monomers lack that ability to bind C4BP. Interestingly, when it binds to another human protein, IgG, its thermal stability increases. This means that protein H can maintain its dimeric structure at elevated temperatures. It's theorized that the IgG Fc binding acts to stabilize the homodimer, enabling C4BP binding even in the warmer conditions of the human circulatory system. This makes sense since this is also where the highest concentrations of complement proteins can be found (267).

The M protein stands as an example of molecular evolution's genius, showcasing versatility and adaptability in its structure and function. Its many-sided roles in GAS infections, its interactions with host components, and its potential implications in autoimmune responses illustrate its central significance in the study of this bacterium. Furthermore, the structural intricacies of the M protein, combined with its varied responses to different environmental conditions, underpin its pivotal role in GAS's survival and pathogenicity. Gaining a better understanding of the M protein not only advances our grasp on the mechanisms of action employed by GAS but also paves the way for potential therapeutic interventions, perhaps even a muchanticipated GAS vaccine.

4. Present investigation

Original Papers and Manuscripts

Paper I

High-sensitivity assessment of phagocytosis by persistent association-based normalization

Therese de Neergaard, Martin Sundwall, Sebastian Wrighton, and Pontus Nordenfelt.

J Immunol. 2021 Jan 1;206(1):214-224.

Paper II

A human monoclonal antibody bivalently binding two different epitopes in streptococcal M protein mediates immune function

Wael Bahnan, Lotta Happonen, Hamed Khakzad, Vibha Kumra Ahnlide, Therese de Neergaard, **Sebastian Wrighton**, Oscar André, Eleni Bratanis, Di Tang, Thomas Hellmark, Lars Björck, Oonagh Shannon, Lars Malmström, Johan Malmström, and Pontus Nordenfelt.

EMBO Mol Med. 2022 Dec 12;e16208.

Paper III

Group A streptococci induce stronger M protein-fibronectin interaction when specific human antibodies are bound

Sebastian Wrighton, Vibha Kumra Ahnlide, Oscar André, Wael Bahnan, and Pontus Nordenfelt.

Front Microbiol. 2023 Jan 26;14:1069789.

Paper IV

Streptococcal evasion from antibody-mediated phagocytosis is linked to fibronectindependent integrin modulation

Sebastian Wrighton*, Arman Izadi*, Martin Sundwall, Berit Olofsson, Vinay Swaminathan, and Pontus Nordenfelt.

* These authors contributed equally to this work

Manuscript in preparation

Paper I: High-sensitivity assessment of phagocytosis by persistent association-based normalization

Background

Phagocytosis is a vital cellular function that plays a crucial role in the immune response and overall balance within multicellular eukaryotes. It involves the engulfment of prey by cells with phagocytic abilities (59). It has been a subject of wide research interest since its discovery, and many various methods have been developed to measure it. These include direct observation through electron or light microscopy and indirect methods using markers such as radiation or fluorescence. Some approaches can distinguish between internalized and external prey through differential labeling or fluorescent changes within the phagocyte. Flow cytometry is now commonly used for high-throughput quantification (268), often with fluorescence microscopy for qualitative confirmation. Imaging flow cytometry combines both to allow detailed single-cell analysis (269).

Drawing general conclusions about phagocytosis and comparing results across different biological systems is a complex task. There are significant differences in phagocyte characteristics, such as neutrophils and macrophages, and prey properties like shape, size, surface attributes, and environmental factors (270–272). Additionally, well-known physical and experimental factors, including temperature, time, volume, and prey-to-phagocyte ratio, can affect the outcomes of phagocytosis assays. Currently, there is no standardized method to minimize the impact of experimental factors, nor a standardized definition of a phagocytic index or description of phagocytosis assays. This lack of standards creates difficulties in comparison across different experiments, systems, and laboratories, hampering reproducibility and sensitivity.

Key points and findings

- Phagocytosis is an important physiological process studied by many as a functional readout.
- Underlying factors like varying phagocytes, prey, and environments make the process highly heterogeneous.
- Difficulties in reproducibility highlight a lack of standardization in field.
- This article presents a systematic approach to normalizing factors involved in the process.
- Tools and guidelines are included to help align the method with specific research questions.

Discussion

With this article we introduce a method based on persistent association-based normalization (PAN). The theoretical foundation of this method is deeply rooted in fundamental chemistry. Specifically, it relates to a principle known as 'collision theory' which is essentially used to predict the rates of chemical reactions. Collision theory states that when reactant particles collide with the correct orientation, only a subset of these collisions leads to a perceptible change; these successful interactions are termed successful collisions (273). Importantly, the number of successful collisions can be altered by manipulating certain factors. These include the concentration of the reactants as well as the temperature and pressure at which the interactions take place. Furthermore, catalysts can be used to speed up the reaction and change the mechanism by which molecules collide. Similarly, phagocytosis can be viewed as interactions between reactants, whereby instead of molecules the reactants are phagocytes and prev. During the process of phagocytosis, phagocytes and prey will interact with each other. However, as in collision theory, only some of those interactions will lead to recognition and binding to the prev or 'persistent association'. Just as in collision theory, the process of phagocytosis, which begins with persistent association, can be manipulated by varying certain experimental parameters. Some of these are inversely correlated with phagocytosis like volume and the concentration of phagocytes. However, others like the concentration of prey, the incubation time, and the incubation temperature are directly correlated. Intriguingly there are even parallels to the concept of a catalyst since depending on the phagocyte of interest, the addition of molecules such as antibodies or complement factors can increase the efficiency of the phagocytic reaction. These many parallels highlight the fact that, while biology is full of randomness, there are many factors that can be normalized and accounted for. By doing so it is possible to minimize the inevitable experimental noise.

The actual execution of the PAN method is founded in dose-response curve analysis. This form of analysis is commonly used in pharmacology where it is used to test the pharmacological effect of certain drugs. There the concept of half-maximal effective concentration (EC_{50}) is used to assess the pharmacological potency of a substance. Specifically, the EC_{50} indicates the concentration of a drug required to achieve a response midway between the baseline and the maximum possible effect. In PAN a MOP₅₀ value is determined, whereby this denotes the number of preys per phagocyte (MOP) that are needed to achieve 50% persistent association. The MOP₅₀ value is determined by running MOP curves whereby persistent association is assessed at varying MOPs. These results can then be assessed by non-linear regression analysis, yielding a MOP₅₀ value. Importantly, these MOP curves are powerful analytical tools in their own right. They can reflect the respective effectiveness of a phagocytic reaction and furthermore offer insights into a system's dynamic range. These curves can pinpoint the specific MOP levels where more in-depth analyses like microscopy should be conducted. This enhances the assay's sensitivity and could also cut down

on time spent setting up unnecessary experiments. Finally, it should be mentioned that the PAN method is fully compatible with microscopy-based phagocytosis assays. However, this would most likely result in a significantly slower throughput compared to flow cytometry-based techniques.

Overall, the PAN method has been critical for my journey as a PhD student. Because of my background in medicine, I initially had very little formal experience in the lab. When planning my first experiments, I often felt overwhelmed by all of the variables I had to account for. Starting to use PAN was a definitive turning point. Its theoretical foundation was thought provoking and gave me novel perspectives on biology and research in general. While before my focus would solely be on the condition or therapy I was interested in testing, now I began seeing experiments more as chemical reactions with many variables simultaneously affecting the outcomes. In this way it has been critical in the planning and execution of my experiments – many of which are included in this thesis.

Paper II: A human monoclonal antibody bivalently binding two different epitopes in streptococcal M protein mediates immune function

Background

Antibodies, essential components of the immune system, neutralize, and opsonize external pathogens such as bacteria and are produced by B cells (274). These Abs are created through processes like V(D)J recombination and somatic hypermutation, resulting in a diverse repertoire of Ab variable domains (275,276). IgG Abs typically bind to an antigen through one of their Fab domains. They can also bind to an object with both Fab domains simultaneously when two target antigens lie within close proximity of each other. This dual-Fab trans-binding can increase the binding strength through avidity, a process that depends on antigen density and organization (277). Once bound, IgG can trigger the clustering of Fc receptors on immune cells, inducing effects such as phagocytosis and immune activation.

Group A streptococcus (GAS) is a common human pathogen causing significant morbidity and mortality worldwide. GAS has evolved multiple mechanisms to counter the human immune response, including resistance to phagocytosis and targeting immunoglobulins through specific proteins. A notable protein, M protein, contributes to phagocytosis resistance, induces vascular leakage, and can reduce phagocytosis by capturing IgG Fc domains. Despite the humoral immune response to GAS infections, repeated exposures are needed to generate protective memory B cell immunity (278). M protein constitutes one of the prime immunizing Ags but no effective vaccine has been approved (279). The generation of mAbs targeting bacteria has become a topic of increasing interest within the field of infectious diseases. In fact, many mAb therapies targeting various bacterial antigens are currently in development (280). While high production costs and prices makes such therapies ineffective from a public health standpoint, they could certainly be useful in the treatment of rare invasive GAS disease manifestations. Moreover, such monoclonals can act as instrumental tools in fundamental biological research.

Key findings

- Monoclonal antibodies were generated targeting the central region of GAS M1 protein.
- Dual-Fab cis-binding is novel form of Ab binding where both Fabs bind to distinct epitopes on one M protein molecule.
- The dual-Fab cis-binding Ab (Ab25) was shown to trigger immune effector functions while regular binding Abs targeting the same region did not.
- Ab25 protected mice in a GAS infection model.
- Ab25 was shown to cross-react with a number of different M types.

Discussion

This research article introduces a mAb (Ab25) that binds to the M protein's central region. Unlike typical Abs, Ab25 attaches to the M protein at two distinct epitopes simultaneously through a novel phenomenon known as dual-Fab cis-binding (DFCB). It represents a bivalent interaction spanning the M1 protein's S region, confirmed through three independent methods. The research demonstrates that DFCB can potentially enhance Ab function and offers insight into effective opsonophagocytic interactions. However, it remains to be seen what role DFCB Abs play in the broader immune response. The binding properties exhibited by Ab25 bring to mind the mAb 2G12. This human mAb targeting the HIV glycoprotein gp120 was discovered in 1996 and was also observed to exhibit unique binding characteristics (281). Similarly, to Ab25, it bound gp120 with both its Fabs simultaneously, however, upon closer observation its binding characteristics were very different. In the case of 2G12, the DFCB was occurring due to a mutation in the mAb's hinge region. This mutation led to the dimerization of both Fabs, resulting in one large Fab that could bind to gp120. This is where the binding characteristics of the two mAbs differ fundamentally since Ab25 was shown to bind two distinct, spatially separated epitopes. Moreover, 2G12's unique binding characteristics were not found to influence the mAb's immune function.

Another remaining question concerns the broader significance of the DFCB. We have so far found one such mAb, however, our results comparing single Fabs with $F(ab')_2$ fragments from both pooled and convalescent plasma showed that Fabs derived from convalescent plasma bound less to GAS than $F(ab')_2$ fragments. This was not seen with the pooled Abs which could indicate that previous infection can lead to the preferential development of DFCB Abs and that these make up a

substantial portion of the Abs targeting GAS. However, we must keep in mind that this relies on the assumption that all the DFCB Abs can only bind in this manner. By this, I mean that, as with Ab25, these Abs can only bind with both their Fabs simultaneously since individually they lack the affinity to bind to their respective epitopes. In any case, more DFCB mAbs, both targeting GAS and other antigens will need to be identified in order to make wider conclusions regarding this phenomenon.

In order for M protein bound IgG to trigger effector functions, an immune cell's FcyR must interact with its Fc domain. Antibodies are highly flexible proteins (282), thus being bound by a single Fab offers a significant freedom of movement. This means that the Fc domain could be pointing anywhere from downwards towards the bacterial surface to upwards towards the M proteins N-terminus. DFCB entails the simultaneous binding of both Fabs reducing the degree of spatial freedom of the Fc domain. The Fc domain orientation of a DFCB Ab would preferentially be perpendicular in relation to the M protein. Interestingly this happens to be the optimal angle for FcyR-Fc interaction (283). Moreover, it was shown that since Ab25 binds above and below the M protein's Fc binding domain it was able to reduce the M protein's ability to bind non-specific Abs via their Fcs. While it is not fully understood how this mechanism benefits GAS, it is possible that this could lead to further protection for the host. Overall, this study offers insight into immune responses against GAS and reveals the potential importance of DFCB Abs. These findings could be helpful in the future development of monoclonal Ab therapies or vaccines.

Paper III: Group A streptococci induce stronger M protein-fibronectin interaction when specific human antibodies are bound

Background

A key aspect of GAS biology is its relationship with Fn, a high-molecular-weight glycoprotein found in both soluble and insoluble forms. Within the host, Fn acts as an adaptor protein of the ECM, facilitating cell interactions with their environment. GAS has been shown to bind Fn, enhancing its adhesion and invasion of host cells. This binding is mediated by surface-expressed bacterial proteins possessing Fn-specific binding domains. These include specialized Fn binding proteins, such as PrtF1/SfB1, PrtF2, FbaA, and others. Some FnBPs have been found to promote epithelial cell invasion by collaborating with integrins on epithelial cells (284,285). Around 12 GAS surface proteins facilitate Fn binding, indicative of an evolutionarily driven process.

The GAS M protein illustrates the bacterium's evolutionary manipulation of the host immune system. With a highly variable N-terminal domain, the M protein is the primary target of the humoral immune response. Some Abs target the conserved C

region, serving as cross-serotype antigens although these have been associated with a lack of immunological function (286). Certain M types have been found to bind Fn, particularly the M1 protein.

Key findings

- Polyclonal plasma antibodies from patients who have recently recovered from a GAS infection increase Fn binding to GAS.
- Monoclonals targeting the central region of the M protein can also increase Fn binding.
- Fn binding occurs in the N terminal region of the M1 protein.
- Crosslinked Abs and Abs lacking Fc domains do not affect Fn binding to M protein.
- Ab-mediated Fn binding reduces opsonophagocytosis.
- Ab-mediated Fn binding occurs in 3 of 5 tested emm-type strains and is not linked to sequence homology.

Discussion

In this study we initially began studying the M1 GAS strain SF370. Since it is known that the M1 protein can bind Fn we were curious to see the effects of Abs on its binding capacity. During initial testing we were surprised to find that firstly, GAS incubated in purified Fn was hardly binding any Fn and secondly, that when we incubated GAS in plasma from donors who had recently recovered from a GAS infection, Fn binding shot up. At first, we were worried we had mixed up the samples since we were expecting that post-infection samples with high titers of anti-GAS Abs would neutralize any binding sites on the M protein; not have the opposite effect. Additionally, we were confused by how little Fn the 'Ab untreated' GAS was binding. After all, it's not only M1 that should be binding Fn; SF370 has been shown to have another Fn binding protein, FbaA (287). However, as strange as is seemed it turned out to be true. At this point we didn't know if it was Abs or something else in the convalescent plasma that was having this effect, so we decided to test our anti-M monoclonals. Interestingly, we found that 2 of 3 monoclonals targeting the M protein's central region, also led to this increase in Fn binding.

While we explored several avenues in this article, much is still unknown about this phenomenon. For example, it's still unclear why SF370 and other M1 strains we have tested bind so little Fn. This became even more apparent when testing the other emm-type strains since they all bound Fn very efficiently. In the discussion section of the article, we suggest that M1 could be taking over the 'work' of Fn binding and that this has led to a reduced expression of FbaA. While this is an intriguing hypothesis, it is important to consider other possible explanations. First it would be important to test if these strains do in fact express FbaA. Then it would also be

critical to test more recent clinical isolates since it is common for laboratory strains to lose pathophysiological characteristics (288). Another aspect that deserves further inspection is the biological relevance of this mechanism. While we have shown that it can reduce opsonophagocytosis it is hard to dismiss a feeling that there must be more to this phenomenon. The most obvious question that should be explored next is: does it affect adhesion? Considering the 2-step adhesion proposed by R. J. Doyle and colleagues (224) it could make a lot of sense that M1 binds Fn so weakly. This model proposes that LTA serves as a low affinity adhesin that allows GAS to be drawn closer to the host epithelium. This is followed by a second step entailing multiple high affinity binding interactions which makes the adhesion essentially irreversible. It is possible that, in an environment that has low concentrations of both IgG and Fn, like the nasopharynx, M protein first functions as a low affinity adhesin. In this way it could help GAS to get an initial grip on Fn that is found embedded within the mucus layer. However, in an environment with high concentrations of IgG, such as a wound, the M1 protein can immediately be repurposed as a second step adhesin since the binding Abs enhance its Fn binding affinity.

This would be yet another example of the M protein's extraordinary ability to adapt to its environment; constituting a fascinating protein which shines even more brightly because of its imperfections. Unlike many other proteins, it is not its structural integrity which allows it to function, but rather it is the opposite. The destabilizing residues found within this coiled-coil protein's structure make it inherently instable. This means that it readily unfolds at temperatures above 37°C (289). It is no coincidence that the M protein is primarily found within the human body, an environment that constantly keeps it teetering on the edge of unraveling. It is here that the M protein truly begins to excel. Its instability gives it the ability to bind to many diverse ligands and essentially 'react' to its environment. Considering this, perhaps it makes sense that this protein would also actively seek to draw the attention of the adaptive immune system so that it could use the ensuing Abs to alter its own function.

Paper IV: Streptococcal evasion from antibody-mediated phagocytosis is linked to fibronectin-dependent integrin modulation

Background

GAS is renowned for possessing the ability to survive in human blood (290); an impressive feat since this constitutes an harsh environment that not many pathogens can withstand. It is one laden with destructive immune cells, Abs, antimicrobial peptides, clotting factors, and complement. However, it is important to keep in mind that the mucosal niche of the nasopharynx is where long-term asymptomatic carriage occurs. This mode of interaction benefits GAS by allowing prolonged

replication and enhancing horizontal transmission, particularly within close-knit communities like schools and families (215). A feature that clearly differentiates these two host niches is the concentration of soluble proteins, including the concentration of soluble Fn. While blood contains Fn concentrations between 300-400 μ g/ml, saliva only contains around 0.05-0.15 μ g/ml (291,292).

Antibodies play an important role in the host defence against GAS (293). This is further evinced by the fact that GAS has developed numerous virulence factors specifically targeting Abs – specifically IgG (153,240,241,246). IgG is found in 4 distinct subclasses whereby each is associated with specific Fc γ R affinities and effector functions (37). It has been found that the IgG3 subclass acts as a particularly potent opsonin and is associated with GAS infections (43,155).

Fc γ R-mediated phagocytosis is a process characterized by intracellular actin remodeling leading to the formation of a phagocytic cup (76). During the course of this process, membrane protrusions known as pseudopods progressively wrap around the target prey until it is finally engulfed (294). There are a number of different Fc γ Rs which are associated with distinct immune effector functions. These are expressed by different cell lines and can bind IgG subclasses with varying affinity (43). In the previous study the monocytic cell line THP-1 was used to study the effects of Ab-enhanced Fn binding on phagocytosis. These are known to constitutively express Fc γ RI and Fc γ RII which can both induce phagocytosis (295). In this study we furthermore assess neutrophils which are the most efficient phagocytes. These constitutively express Fc γ RIIa, as well as Fc γ RIIIb and Fc γ RIV, whereas the expression of Fc γ RI must be induced by stimulation with G-CSF (60).

Key findings

- All IgG3 subclasses can enhance M protein Fn binding.
- Both high and low Fn concentrations can lead to a reduction in opsonophagocytosis.
- Neutrophil-mediated phagocytosis is also affected by Ab-mediated Fn binding.
- Incubation in saliva reduces the opsonic efficiency of Abs that mediate Fn binding.
- The reduction in opsonophagocytosis is not due to inhibited $Fc-Fc\gamma R$ engagement.
- Reduction in opsonophagocytosis is likely linked to integrin modulation.

Discussion

In this final paper we revisit the phenomenon of Ab-enhanced Fn binding. Since we knew that the IgG1 Fc domains were a prerequisite, we were curious to assess the effects of other IgG subclasses. The results showed that while all subclass variants led to an increase in Fn binding, they did not do so to the same degree. However, this most likely has to do with the respective Abs binding affinities rather than the interaction between IgG Fc domains and Fn.

Considering that Fn is found in such different concentrations throughout the body, specifically in the two main niches that GAS inhabits, we wanted to test the effects of similar Fn concentrations of phagocytosis and do so with a more physiologically relevant model phagocyte - neutrophils. Firstly, we found that, just like with the monocytic cell line THP-1, Ab-enhanced Fn binding led to a reduction in phagocytosis. This was not seen when using pooled intravenous IgG (IVIG) which was previously shown to have little effect on Fn binding. Secondly, we could show that low (1µg/ml) and high (400µg/ml) concentrations of Fn could lead to an inhibition in phagocytosis. These results were highlighted further when we could show that GAS incubated in varying concentrations of saliva could lead to a reduction in phagocytosis by THP-1 cells. While saliva had little effect on IVIG opsonized GAS, there was a striking effect on GAS opsonized with Ab25. Here we could clearly see that increasing saliva concentrations indirectly correlateded with phagocytic efficiency. These results offer further evidence that this mechanism is adapted to the mucosal niche, allowing GAS to inhibit the effect of dangerous opsonic Abs. However, these results should be interpreted with caution. Firstly, this experiment was done with a cell line and would need to be replicated with primary phagocytes. Moreover, we cannot rule out that other factors found in saliva were contributing to the effect. Further experiments are needed to validate these results and confirm that Fn is indeed the causative agent.

Finally, we wanted to better understand the mechanism behind this decrease in opsonophagocytosis. We first began by testing whether GAS bound Fn could interfere with the interaction between IgG and FcγRs. We found no differences concerning GAS interaction with any of the F FcγRs, regardless of the Ab and Fn treatment. While this result would need to be confirmed through other means, it is likely that Fn is not leading to a reduction in FcγR interaction. We decided to, next, investigate the role of integrins. On the one hand, we did so because Fn is classically known for its interaction with integrins. On the other hand, it had just recently been established that a certain promiscuous integrin, $\alpha M\beta 2$ (CR3), is involved in the process of FcγR-mediated phagocytosis. A study found that phagocytes lacking $\alpha M\beta 2$ were slower at engulfing prey and formed irregular, elongated phagocytic cups (76). This made sense since we had not seen a total abolishment of phagocytosis, but rather it seemed like a reduction in efficiency. To test whether integrins are involved in the process we repeated a previous experiment, but this time included the integrin activating agent Manganese (Mn²⁺). While it didn't lead

to a consistent reduction in phagocytosis, we saw that, specifically for Ab25 treated GAS, it led to significantly increased variability between experiments. The fact that we saw fluctuations between sharp increases and decreases in phagocytosis reminds of the biphasic manner in which integrins bind to Fn within the ECM (296). It is possible that by binding Fn, GAS is able to interfere with the cellular mechanosensing apparatus, resulting in a reduction in opsonophagocytic killing. In fact, this is not the first time that interactions between β^2 integrins and M proteinhost protein complexes have been described. A 2004 research article showed that neutrophils recognize M protein/Fibrin complexes through β^2 integrins. This was shown to lead to neutrophil activation and the release of the inflammatory mediator heparin binding protein (258).

Concluding remarks and future perspectives

Concluding Remarks

The body of work presented in this thesis, seeks to shed light on the complex interactions between mAbs and the GAS M protein. It does so by combining novel in-depth analytical methodologies with experimental studies. The first paper, "Highassessment of phagocytosis by persistent association-based sensitivity normalization," describes a reliable method to measure phagocytosis. The method's adaptability and precision have subsequently driven the research for the other papers in this collection. The next three papers delve into the specifics of how human mAbs interact with M protein and the functional outcomes of these interactions. These include a novel bivalent Ab binding mode, the enhancement of M protein's affinity for Fn when specific human Abs are present, and the mechanisms of GAS immune evasion tactics likely involving Fn-dependent integrin modulation. Each of the three papers highlight the remarkable extent to which GAS has fine-tuned its relationship with its human host, casting the M protein as a pivotal figure in this dynamic. Initially, it appeared that the immune system had gained a tactical advantage through Ab25, an Ab exhibiting a unique binding profile capable of bypassing the M protein's anti-phagocytic properties. Yet, GAS was already ahead of the curve. The same Ab that initially seemed promising also enhanced the M protein's affinity for Fn. This enhanced binding to Fn led to a reduction in the efficiency of opsonophagocytosis, thereby potentially diminishing the Ab's in vivo efficacy. These results serve as a compelling testament to the resilience and adaptability of GAS and underscore the formidable challenges we face in designing effective therapeutic interventions against this elusive pathogen.

Future Perspectives

When I started my PhD, I was filled with a sense of endless time and possibility for exploring diverse research topics. However, I quickly realized that scientific discovery is rarely straightforward. Despite the numerous obstacles – some more significant than others – that initially caused me great stress, I've come to appreciate

the valuable lessons and problem-solving skills they have imparted. As my time as a PhD student draws to a close, I find myself astonished at how quickly this time has passed. This becomes particularly apparent considering the abundance of research questions that still await exploration. Here I will shortly discuss some aspects of these projects that could warrant further exploration:

As a starting point, I believe the phenomenon of DFCB Abs should be further explored. Is it a general phenomenon that convalescence leads to the generation of more DFCB Abs? If so, is this restricted to Abs targeting GAS or perhaps only M protein? It is possible that the unique 3-dimensional structure of M protein allows for this form of binding. However, there are many bacterial and even host proteins that share many of its structural characteristics. Regardless, a first crucial step will entail the identification of novel DFCB Abs. Careful assessment of the binding characteristics of such Abs could offer insight into the prerequisites for, as well as benefits of DFCB.

Further, the ability of some Abs to enhance the binding of Fn to M protein leaves much to explore. Firstly, we have seen that 2 of 4 tested anti-GAS mAbs are able to enhance Fn binding. It would be important to screen more such mAbs to test how generalizable this phenomenon is. Moreover, it is unclear why these kinds of Abs seem to become enriched after recent infection with GAS. Since essentially everyone has at some point recovered from a GAS infection it would be interesting to explore why pooled Abs from healthy donors no longer show this phenotype. Are these kinds of Abs recognized by the immune system over time and in some way downregulated? To better understand the mechanistic aspects behind Ab-enhanced Fn binding to M protein it will be interesting to compare Ab25 and Ab26MS since they are both opsonic but only one of them enhanced Fn binding. This most likely has to do with the specific binding site on M rather than structural differences between the two Abs. This seems unlikely because they both share identical constant domains. However, since we found that the IgG Fc domain was necessary for Fn binding to occur, it could be interesting to assess the importance of certain regions within the IgG Fc. This could help to understand if the Fc is directly interacting with Fn.

Another aspect of Ab-enhanced Fn binding which remains to be explored is the impact of soluble M protein. During infection with GAS, M protein is enzymatically cleaved by both bacterial as well as host proteases. This results in the release of soluble M protein which has many times over been shown to lead to a number of detrimental effects for the host (238,258). We have not yet assessed whether Ab-enhanced Fn binding can also occur in solution. If so, this may have far reaching implications. For example, many receptors expressed on the surface of host cells contain immunoglobulin-like domains and/or FNIII domains. One example is the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) which contains both (297). Although NCAM is often primarily associated with cells of the central nervous system it can also be found on various lymphoid cells including T cells, Natural killer (NK) cells

cells, and dendritic cells (298). In fact, recent studies have found that NCAM may even serve as a form of PRR on NK cells, helping to control infection with the fungal pathogen *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Interestingly the researchers found that blocking NCAM with a mAb led to reduced fungus-mediated NK cell activation and reduced cytokine secretion (299). Since the spatial arrangement of both the two FNIII and five immunoglobulin-like domains within NCAM seem to match the binding site arrangement on the M1 protein (300,301), it is plausible that soluble M1 protein could act similarly to a blocking mAb – impairing the function of certain immune cells. This could constitute yet another elaborate immune evasion mechanism employed by GAS. As a matter of fact, binding of M protein to NCAM has already been described (302), however, it seems this was never further investigated. While this hypothesis may seem somewhat far-fetched, I believe that it could warrant future exploration.

Papers not included in this thesis

Spike-dependent opsonization indicates both dose-dependent inhibition of phagocytosis and that non-neutralizing antibodies can confer protection to SARS-CoV-2.

Wael Bahnan, **Sebastian Wrighton**, Martin Sundwall, Anna Bläckberg, Olivia Larsson, Urban Höglund, Hamed Khakzad, Magdalena Godzwon, Maria Walle, Elisabeth Elder, Anna Söderlund Strand, Lotta Happonen, Oscar André, Johannes Kumra Ahnlide, Thomas Hellmark, Vidar Wendel-Hansen, Robert Pa Wallin, Johan Malmstöm, Lars Malmström, Mats Ohlin, Magnus Rasmussen, Pontus Nordenfelt.

Front Immunol. 2022 Jan 14;12:808932.

Nanoscale binding site localization by molecular distance estimation on native cell surfaces using topological image averaging.

Vibha Kumra Ahnlide, Johannes Kumra Ahnlide, **Sebastian Wrighton**, Jason P Beech, Pontus Nordenfelt.

Elife. 2022 Feb 24;11:e64709.

Subclass-switched anti-Spike IgG3 oligoclonal cocktails strongly enhance Fcmediated opsonization

Arman Izadi, Arsema Hailu, Magdalena Godzwon, **Sebastian Wrighton**, Berit Olofsson, Tobias Schmidt, Anna Söderlund-Strand, Elizabeth Elder, Sofia Appelberg, Maria Valsjö, Olivia Larsson, Vidar Wendel-Hansen, Mats Ohlin, Wael Bahnan, Pontus Nordenfelt.

Proc National Acad Sci. 2023 120;e2217590120.

The impact of antibody hinge flexibility in Fc-mediated protection against streptococci

Arman Izadi, Yasaman Karami, Eleni Bratanis, **Sebastian Wrighton**, Hamed Khakzad, Maria Nyblom, Berit Olofsson, Lotta Happonen, Di Tang, Michael Nilges, Johan Malmström, Wael Bahnan, Oonagh Shannon, Lars Malmström, and Pontus Nordenfelt.

Currently in revision.

IdeS, a secreted proteinase of Streptococcus pyogenes, is bound to a nuclease at the bacterial surface where it inactivates opsonizing IgG antibodies.

Inga-Maria Frick, Lotta Happonen, **Sebastian Wrighton**, Pontus Nordenfelt, and Lars Björck.

Currently in revision.
References

- Murphey K, Weaver C, Berg L. Janeway's Immunobiology. 10th ed. Twitchell B, Bressack CB, editors. 500 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10110: W. W. Norton & Company, Inc. (2022).
- 2. Elias PM. The skin barrier as an innate immune element. *Semin Immunopathol* (2007) 29:3. doi: 10.1007/s00281-007-0060-9
- 3. Romo MR, Pérez-Martínez D, Ferrer CC. Innate immunity in vertebrates: an overview. *Immunology* (2016) 148:125–139. doi: 10.1111/imm.12597
- 4. Turvey SE, Broide DH. Innate immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2010) 125:S24–S32. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.07.016
- Schleimer RP, Kato A, Kern R, Kuperman D, Avila PC. Epithelium: At the interface of innate and adaptive immune responses. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2007) 120:1279– 1284. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.08.046
- Mogensen TH. Pathogen Recognition and Inflammatory Signaling in Innate Immune Defenses. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2009) 22:240–273. doi: 10.1128/cmr.00046-08
- 7. Rus H, Cudrici C, Niculescu F. The role of the complement system in innate immunity. *Immunol Res* (2005) 33:103–112. doi: 10.1385/ir:33:2:103
- Netea MG, Graaf CV der, Meer JWMV der, Kullberg BJ. Toll-like receptors and the host defense against microbial pathogens: bringing specificity to the innate-immune system. *J Leukoc Biol* (2004) 75:749–755. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1103543
- Schwegler M, Wirsing AM, Dollinger AJ, Abendroth B, Putz F, Fietkau R, Distel LV. Clearance of primary necrotic cells by non-professional phagocytes. *Biol Cell* (2015) 107:372–387. doi: 10.1111/boc.201400090
- Ito T, Connett JM, Kunkel SL, Matsukawa A. The linkage of innate and adaptive immune response during granulomatous development. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:10. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00010
- Mantegazza AR, Magalhaes JG, Amigorena S, Marks MS. Presentation of Phagocytosed Antigens by MHC Class I and II. *Traffic* (2013) 14:135–152. doi: 10.1111/tra.12026
- Garcia-Lora A, Algarra I, Garrido F. MHC class I antigens, immune surveillance, and tumor immune escape. J Cell Physiol (2003) 195:346–355. doi: 10.1002/jcp.10290

- Hewitt EW. The MHC class I antigen presentation pathway: strategies for viral immune evasion. *Immunology* (2003) 110:163–169. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01738.x
- Pollard AJ, Bijker EM. A guide to vaccinology: from basic principles to new developments. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2021) 21:83–100. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-00479-7
- Kumar BV, Connors TJ, Farber DL. Human T Cell Development, Localization, and Function throughout Life. *Immunity* (2018) 48:202–213. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.01.007
- 16. Ribatti D. Edelman's view on the discovery of antibodies. *Immunol Lett* (2015) 164:72–75. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2015.02.005
- 17. Tonegawa S. Somatic Generation of Immune Diversity (Nobel Lecture). *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* (1988) 27:1028–1039. doi: 10.1002/anie.198810281
- Söderqvist T. The Life and Work of Niels Kaj Jerne as a Source of Ethical Reflection*. Scand J Immunol (2002) 55:539–545. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.2002.01082.x
- 19. Kaufmann SHE. Emil von Behring: translational medicine at the dawn of immunology. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2017) 17:341–343. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.37
- 20. Raju TN. The Nobel Chronicles. *Lancet* (1998) 352:75. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(05)79565-9
- 21. Kaufmann SHE. Remembering Emil von Behring: from Tetanus Treatment to Antibody Cooperation with Phagocytes. *mBio* (2017) 8:e00117-17. doi: 10.1128/mbio.00117-17
- 22. Kantha SS. A Centennial Review; the 1890 Tetanus Antitoxin Paper of von Behring and Kitasato and the Related Developments. *Keio J Med* (1991) 40:35–39. doi: 10.2302/kjm.40.35
- 23. Lindenmann J. Origin of the Terms "Antibody" and "Antigen." *Scand J Immunol* (1984) 19:281–285. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.1984.tb00931.x
- Sela-Culang I, Kunik V, Ofran Y. The Structural Basis of Antibody-Antigen Recognition. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:302. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00302
- Dunbar J, Knapp B, Fuchs A, Shi J, Deane CM. Examining Variable Domain Orientations in Antigen Receptors Gives Insight into TCR-Like Antibody Design. *PLoS Comput Biol* (2014) 10:e1003852. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003852
- 26. Tahir S, Bourquard T, Musnier A, Jullian Y, Corde Y, Omahdi Z, Mathias L, Reiter E, Crépieux P, Bruneau G, et al. Accurate determination of epitope for antibodies with unknown 3D structures. *mAbs* (2021) 13:1961349. doi: 10.1080/19420862.2021.1961349
- 27. Klasse PJ. Neutralization of Virus Infectivity by Antibodies: Old Problems in New Perspectives. *Adv Biol* (2014) 2014:1–24. doi: 10.1155/2014/157895
- 28. Bahnan W, Wrighton S, Sundwall M, Bläckberg A, Larsson O, Höglund U, Khakzad H, Godzwon M, Walle M, Elder E, et al. Spike-Dependent Opsonization Indicates Both Dose-Dependent Inhibition of Phagocytosis and That Non-Neutralizing Antibodies Can Confer Protection to SARS-CoV-2. *Front Immunol* (2022) 12:808932. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.808932

- 29. Izadi A, Hailu A, Godzwon M, Wrighton S, Olofsson B, Schmidt T, Söderlund-Strand A, Elder E, Appelberg S, Valsjö M, et al. Subclass-switched anti-spike IgG3 oligoclonal cocktails strongly enhance Fc-mediated opsonization. *Proc National Acad Sci* (2023) 120:e2217590120. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2217590120
- 30. Tirado SMC, Yoon K-J. Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of Virus Infection and Disease. *Viral Immunol* (2003) 16:69–86. doi: 10.1089/088282403763635465
- Porter RR. The hydrolysis of rabbit γ-globulin and antibodies with crystalline papain. Biochem J (1959) 73:119–127. doi: 10.1042/bj0730119
- Edelman GM. Antibody Structure and Molecular Immunology. Science (1973) 180:830–840. doi: 10.1126/science.180.4088.830
- Stanfield RL, Wilson IA. Antibody Structure. *Microbiol Spectr* (2014) 2: doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.aid-0012-2013
- 34. Sun Y, Huang T, Hammarström L, Zhao Y. The Immunoglobulins: New Insights, Implications, and Applications. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci* (2019) 8:1–25. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-021419-083720
- 35. Scott-Taylor TH, Axinia S, Amin S, Pettengell R. Immunoglobulin G; structure and functional implications of different subclass modifications in initiation and resolution of allergy. *Immun, Inflamm Dis* (2018) 6:13–33. doi: 10.1002/iid3.192
- 36. Breedveld A, Egmond M van. IgA and FcαRI: Pathological Roles and Therapeutic Opportunities. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:553. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00553
- 37. Vidarsson G, Dekkers G, Rispens T. IgG Subclasses and Allotypes: From Structure to Effector Functions. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:520. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00520
- Steffen U, Koeleman CA, Sokolova MV, Bang H, Kleyer A, Rech J, Unterweger H, Schicht M, Garreis F, Hahn J, et al. IgA subclasses have different effector functions associated with distinct glycosylation profiles. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:120. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-13992-8
- Saphire EO, Parren PWHI, Pantophlet R, Zwick MB, Morris GM, Rudd PM, Dwek RA, Stanfield RL, Burton DR, Wilson IA. Crystal Structure of a Neutralizing Human IgG Against HIV-1: A Template for Vaccine Design. *Science* (2001) 293:1155– 1159. doi: 10.1126/science.1061692
- Bournazos S, Wang TT, Dahan R, Maamary J, Ravetch JV. Signaling by Antibodies: Recent Progress. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2017) 35:285–311. doi: 10.1146/annurevimmunol-051116-052433
- Lu LL, Suscovich TJ, Fortune SM, Alter G. Beyond binding: antibody effector functions in infectious diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18:46–61. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.106
- 42. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fcγ receptors as regulators of immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:34–47. doi: 10.1038/nri2206
- 43. Taeye SW de, Bentlage AEH, Mebius MM, Meesters JI, Lissenberg-Thunnissen S, Falck D, Sénard T, Salehi N, Wuhrer M, Schuurman J, et al. FcγR Binding and ADCC Activity of Human IgG Allotypes. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:740. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00740

- Sutton BJ, Davies AM, Bax HJ, Karagiannis SN. IgE Antibodies: From Structure to Function and Clinical Translation. *Antibodies* (2019) 8:19. doi: 10.3390/antib8010019
- 45. Roth DB. V(D)J Recombination: Mechanism, Errors, and Fidelity. *Microbiol Spectr* (2014) 2: doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.mdna3-0041-2014
- 46. Noia JMD, Neuberger MS. Molecular Mechanisms of Antibody Somatic Hypermutation. *Annu Rev Biochem* (2007) 76:1–22. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.76.061705.090740
- 47. Singh S, Kumar NK, Dwiwedi P, Charan J, Kaur R, Sidhu P, Chugh VK. Monoclonal Antibodies: A Review. *Curr Clin Pharmacol* (2018) 13:85–99. doi: 10.2174/1574884712666170809124728
- Köhler G, Milstein C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. *Nature* (1975) 256:495–497. doi: 10.1038/256495a0
- 49. Elgundi Z, Sifniotis V, Reslan M, Cruz E, Kayser V. Laboratory Scale Production and Purification of a Therapeutic Antibody. *J Vis Exp* (2017) doi: 10.3791/55153
- 50. Kölliker A von. Das Sonnentierchen, Actinophyrys sol. Z WissZool (1849)198-217.
- 51. Haeckel E. *Die Radiolarien (Rhizopoda radiaria) : eine Monographie*. Berlin: G. Reimer (1962). doi: 10.5962/bhl.title.10155
- 52. Stossel TP. The early history of phagocytosis. *Adv Cell Mol Biol Membr Organelles* (1999) 5:3–18. doi: 10.1016/s1874-5172(99)80025-x
- 53. Metchnikoff É. Untersuchungen über die intrazelluläre Verdauung bei wirbellosen Thieren. Arb aus dem Zool Inst zu Wien II (1882)141-158.
- 54. Michniacki TF, Walkovich K. "Chapter 17 Functional Phagocyte Disorders in the Neonate.," In: Alarcón PA de, Werner EJ, Christensen RD, Sola-Visner MC, editors. *Neonatal Hematology*. Cambridge University Press (2021). p. 279–292 doi: 10.1017/9781108773584.019
- 55. Gordon S. Elie Metchnikoff: Father of natural immunity. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38:3257–3264. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838855
- Teti G, Biondo C, Beninati C. The Phagocyte, Metchnikoff, and the Foundation of Immunology. *Microbiol Spectr* (2016) 4: doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.mchd-0009-2015
- Lafuente EM, Niedergang F, Rosales C. Editorial: Phagocytosis: Molecular Mechanisms and Physiological Implications. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:586918. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.586918
- 58. Arandjelovic S, Ravichandran KS. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in homeostasis. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16:907–917. doi: 10.1038/ni.3253
- 59. Gordon S. Phagocytosis: An Immunobiologic Process. *Immunity* (2016) 44:463–475. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.026
- 60. Nordenfelt P, Tapper H. Phagosome dynamics during phagocytosis by neutrophils. J Leukoc Biol (2011) 90:271–284. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0810457
- 61. Ginhoux F, Jung S. Monocytes and macrophages: developmental pathways and tissue homeostasis. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14:392–404. doi: 10.1038/nri3671

- 62. Zanna MY, Yasmin AR, Omar AR, Arshad SS, Mariatulqabtiah AR, Nur-Fazila SH, Mahiza MIN. Review of Dendritic Cells, Their Role in Clinical Immunology, and Distribution in Various Animal Species. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22:8044. doi: 10.3390/ijms22158044
- 63. Hiemstra PS, Daha MR. Encyclopedia of Immunology (Second Edition). *Artic Titles:* O (1998)1885–1888. doi: 10.1006/rwei.1999.0475
- 64. Dunkelberger JR, Song W-C. Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Cell Res* (2010) 20:34–50. doi: 10.1038/cr.2009.139
- 65. Endo Y, Matsushita M, Fujita T. The role of ficolins in the lectin pathway of innate immunity. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2011) 43:705–712. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2011.02.003
- 66. Pangburn MK, Müller-Eberhard HJ. Initiation of the alternative complement pathway due to spontaneous hydrolysis of the thioester of C3a. *Ann N York Acad Sci* (1983) 421:291–298. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1983.tb18116.x
- 67. Cho H. Complement regulation: physiology and disease relevance. *Korean J Pediatr* (2015) 58:239–244. doi: 10.3345/kjp.2015.58.7.239
- 68. Holers VM. Complement and Its Receptors: New Insights into Human Disease. *Immunology* (2014) 32:433–459. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120154
- Merle NS, Noe R, Halbwachs-Mecarelli L, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Roumenina LT. Complement System Part II: Role in Immunity. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:257. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00257
- 70. Xie CB, Jane-Wit D, Pober JS. Complement Membrane Attack Complex New Roles, Mechanisms of Action, and Therapeutic Targets. *Am J Pathol* (2020) 190:1138– 1150. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2020.02.006
- 71. Stuart LM, Ezekowitz RAB. Phagocytosis Elegant Complexity. *Immunity* (2005) 22:539–550. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.05.002
- 72. Chen S, Lai SWT, Brown CE, Feng M. Harnessing and Enhancing Macrophage Phagocytosis for Cancer Therapy. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:635173. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.635173
- 73. Scott AM, Wolchok JD, Old LJ. Antibody therapy of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:278–287. doi: 10.1038/nrc3236
- 74. Schäfer G, Jacobs M, Wilkinson RJ, Brown GD. Non-Opsonic Recognition of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by Phagocytes. J Innate Immun (2009) 1:231–243. doi: 10.1159/000173703
- 75. Ofek I, Goldhar J, Keisari Y, Sharon N. Nonopsonic Phagocytosis of Microorganisms. *Annu Rev Microbiol* (1995) 49:239–276. doi: 10.1146/annurev.mi.49.100195.001323
- 76. Walbaum S, Ambrosy B, Schütz P, Bachg AC, Horsthemke M, Leusen JHW, Mócsai A, Hanley PJ. Complement receptor 3 mediates both sinking phagocytosis and phagocytic cup formation via distinct mechanisms. *J Biol Chem* (2021) 296:100256. doi: 10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100256
- 77. Zhang Y, Hoppe AD, Swanson JA. Coordination of Fc receptor signaling regulates cellular commitment to phagocytosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2010) 107:19332–19337. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008248107

- 78. Tollis S, Dart AE, Tzircotis G, Endres RG. The zipper mechanism in phagocytosis: energetic requirements and variability in phagocytic cup shape. *BMC Syst Biol* (2010) 4:149. doi: 10.1186/1752-0509-4-149
- 79. Kinchen JM, Ravichandran KS. Phagosome maturation: going through the acid test. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2008) 9:781–795. doi: 10.1038/nrm2515
- Seidel C, Moreno-Velásquez SD, Ben-Ghazzi N, Gago S, Read ND, Bowyer P. Phagolysosomal Survival Enables Non-lytic Hyphal Escape and Ramification Through Lung Epithelium During Aspergillus fumigatus Infection. *Front Microbiol* (2020) 11:1955. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.01955
- Jamwal SV, Mehrotra P, Singh A, Siddiqui Z, Basu A, Rao KVS. Mycobacterial escape from macrophage phagosomes to the cytoplasm represents an alternate adaptation mechanism. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:23089. doi: 10.1038/srep23089
- 82. Moldovan A, Fraunholz MJ. In or out: Phagosomal escape of Staphylococcus aureus. *Cell Microbiol* (2019) 21:e12997. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12997
- Vogelpoel LTC, Baeten DLP, Jong EC de, Dunnen J den. Control of Cytokine Production by Human Fc Gamma Receptors: Implications for Pathogen Defense and Autoimmunity. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:79. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00079
- Jaumouillé V, Waterman CM. Physical Constraints and Forces Involved in Phagocytosis. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1097. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01097
- Neergaard T de, Sundwall M, Wrighton S, Nordenfelt P. High-Sensitivity Assessment of Phagocytosis by Persistent Association-Based Normalization. *J Immunol* (2021) 206:214–224. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.2000032
- Lancefield RC. A Serological Differentiation of Human and Other Groups of Hemolytic Streptococci. *J Exp Medicine* (1933) 57:571–595. doi: 10.1084/jem.57.4.571
- Romero-Steiner S, Frasch CE, Carlone G, Fleck RA, Goldblatt D, Nahm MH. Use of Opsonophagocytosis for Serological Evaluation of Pneumococcal Vaccines. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2006) 13:165–169. doi: 10.1128/cvi.13.2.165-169.2006
- Uribe-Querol E, Rosales C. Control of Phagocytosis by Microbial Pathogens. Front Immunol (2017) 8:1368. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01368
- 89. Hed J, Hallden G, Johansson SGO, Larsson P. The use of fluorescence quenching in flow cytofluorometry to measure the attachment and ingestion phases in phagocytosis in peripheral blood without prior cell separation. *J Immunol Methods* (1987) 101:119–125. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(87)90224-9
- 90. Miksa M, Komura H, Wu R, Shah KG, Wang P. A novel method to determine the engulfment of apoptotic cells by macrophages using pHrodo succinimidyl ester. J Immunol Methods (2009) 342:71–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2008.11.019
- 91. Goldberg IG, Allan C, Burel J-M, Creager D, Falconi A, Hochheiser H, Johnston J, Mellen J, Sorger PK, Swedlow JR. The Open Microscopy Environment (OME) Data Model and XML file: open tools for informatics and quantitative analysis in biological imaging. *Genome Biol* (2005) 6:R47. doi: 10.1186/gb-2005-6-5-r47
- 92. André O, Ahnlide JK, Norlin N, Swaminathan V, Nordenfelt P. Data-driven microscopy allows for automated context-specific acquisition of high-fidelity image data. *Cell Reports Methods* (2023)100419. doi: 10.1016/j.crmeth.2023.100419

- Neergaard T de, Nordenfelt P. Bacterial Pathogenesis, Methods and Protocols. Methods Mol Biol (2023) 2674:221–234. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-3243-7 15
- D'Souza A, Sanghavi P, Rai A, Pathak D, Mallik R. Isolation of Latex Bead Phagosomes from Dictyostelium for in vitro Functional Assays. *BIO-Protoc* (2016) 6: doi: 10.21769/bioprotoc.2056
- 95. Lönnbro P, Nordenfelt P, Tapper H. Isolation of bacteria-containing phagosomes by magnetic selection. *BMC Cell Biol* (2008) 9:35. doi: 10.1186/1471-2121-9-35
- 96. Nordenfelt P, Winberg ME, Lönnbro P, Rasmusson B, Tapper H. Different Requirements for Early and Late Phases of Azurophilic Granule–Phagosome Fusion. *Traffic* (2009) 10:1881–1893. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2009.00986.x
- 97. Dalton CJ, Lemmon CA. Fibronectin: Molecular Structure, Fibrillar Structure and Mechanochemical Signaling. *Cells* (2021) 10:2443. doi: 10.3390/cells10092443
- Ruoslahti E, Hayman EG, Engvall E. Cancer Markers, Diagnostic and Developmental Significance. (1980)485–505. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-6117-9_18
- Hynes RO, Destree AT, Mautner VM, Ali IU. Synthesis, secretion, and attachment of lets glycoprotein in normal and transformed cells. *J Supramol Struct* (1977) 7:397– 408. doi: 10.1002/jss.400070311
- 100. Edsall JT. Some Early History Of Cold-Insoluble Globulin. *Ann N York Acad Sci* (1978) 312:1–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1978.tb16788.x
- 101. Longtin R. Birthday of a Breakthrough: Fibronectin Research Proves Important, But Not As Originally Expected. JNCI: J Natl Cancer Inst (2004) 96:6–8. doi: 10.1093/jnci/96.1.6
- 102. Pankov R. Fibronectin at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science* (2002) 115:3861–3863. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00059
- 103. Patel RS, Odermatt E, Schwarzbauer JE, Hynes RO. Organization of the fibronectin gene provides evidence for exon shuffling during evolution. *EMBO J* (1987) 6:2565– 2572. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1987.tb02545.x
- 104. Kosmehl H, Berndt A, Katenkamp D. Molecular variants of fibronectin and laminin: structure, physiological occurrence and histopathological aspects. *Virchows Arch* (1996) 429:311–322. doi: 10.1007/bf00198435
- 105. White ES, Muro AF. Fibronectin splice variants: Understanding their multiple roles in health and disease using engineered mouse models. *IUBMB Life* (2011) 63:538–546. doi: 10.1002/iub.493
- 106. Ali IU, Mautner V, Lanza R, Hynes RO. Restoration of normal morphology, adhesion and cytoskeleton in transformed cells by addition of a transformation-sensitive surface protein. *Cell* (1977) 11:115–126. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(77)90322-1
- 107. Labat-Robert J. Cell-Matrix interactions, the role of fibronectin and integrins. A survey. *Pathologie Biologie* (2012) 60:15–19. doi: 10.1016/j.patbio.2011.10.003
- 108. Smith JC, Symes K, Hynes RO, DeSimone D. Mesoderm induction and the control of gastrulation in Xenopus laevis: the roles of fibronectin and integrins. *Development* (1990) 108:229–238. doi: 10.1242/dev.108.2.229
- 109. Patten J, Wang K. Fibronectin in development and wound healing. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* (2021) 170:353–368. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2020.09.005

- 110. Wang Y, Reheman A, Spring CM, Kalantari J, Marshall AH, Wolberg AS, Gross PL, Weitz JI, Rand ML, Mosher DF, et al. Plasma fibronectin supports hemostasis and regulates thrombosis. *J Clin Investig* (2014) 124:4281–4293. doi: 10.1172/jci74630
- 111. Lenselink EA. Role of fibronectin in normal wound healing. *Int Wound J* (2015) 12:313–316. doi: 10.1111/iwj.12109
- 112. Zhao X, Chen J, Sun H, Zhang Y, Zou D. New insights into fibrosis from the ECM degradation perspective: the macrophage-MMP-ECM interaction. *Cell Biosci* (2022) 12:117. doi: 10.1186/s13578-022-00856-w
- 113. Rick JW, Chandra A, Ore CD, Nguyen AT, Yagnik G, Aghi MK. Fibronectin in malignancy: Cancer-specific alterations, protumoral effects, and therapeutic implications. *Semin Oncol* (2019) 46:284–290. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2019.08.002
- 114. Lin T-C, Yang C-H, Cheng L-H, Chang W-T, Lin Y-R, Cheng H-C. Fibronectin in Cancer: Friend or Foe. *Cells* (2019) 9:27. doi: 10.3390/cells9010027
- 115. Hynes RO. Integrins Bidirectional, Allosteric Signaling Machines. *Cell* (2002) 110:673–687. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00971-6
- 116. Rothman JE. The gripping story of integrins. *Cell* (2022) 185:3844–3848. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2022.09.017
- 117. Hynes RO. Cell surface proteins and malignant transformation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (*BBA*) *Rev Cancer* (1976) 458:73–107. doi: 10.1016/0304-419x(76)90015-9
- 118. Hynes RO, Destree AT. Relationships between fibronectin (LETS protein) and actin. *Cell* (1978) 15:875–886. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(78)90272-6
- 119. Heggeness MH, Ash JF, Singer SJ. Transmembrane linkage of fibronectin to intracellular actin-containing filaments in cultured human fibroblasts. *Ann N York Acad Sci* (1978) 312:414–417. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1978.tb16822.x
- 120. Singer II. The fibronexus: a transmembrane association of fibronectin-containing fibers and bundles of 5 nm microfilaments in hamster and human fibroblasts. *Cell* (1979) 16:675–685. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(79)90040-0
- 121. Hynes RO. The emergence of integrins: a personal and historical perspective. *Matrix Biol* (2004) 23:333–340. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2004.08.001
- 122. Greve JM, Gottlieb DI. Monoclonal Antibodies Which Alter the Morphology of Cultured Chick Myogenic Cells. J Cell Biochem (1982) 18:221–229. doi: 10.1002/jcb.1982.240180209
- 123. Neff NT, Lowrey C, Decker C, Tovar A, Damsky C, Buck C, Horwitz AF. A monoclonal antibody detaches embryonic skeletal muscle from extracellular matrices. *J cell Biol* (1982) 95:654–666. doi: 10.1083/jcb.95.2.654
- 124. Pytela R, Pierschbacher MD, Ruoslahti E. A 125/115-kDa cell surface receptor specific for vitronectin interacts with the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid adhesion sequence derived from fibronectin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (1985) 82:5766–5770. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82.17.5766
- 125. Pytela R, Pierschbacher MD, Ruoslahti E. Identification and isolation of a 140 kd cell surface glycoprotein with properties expected of a fibronectin receptor. *Cell* (1985) 40:191–198. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(85)90322-8

- 126. Marguerie GA, Thomas-Maison N, Ginsberg MH, Plow EF. The platelet-fibrinogen interaction. *Eur J Biochem* (1984) 139:5–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1984.tb07968.x
- 127. Bennett JS, Vilaire G, Cines DB. Identification of the fibrinogen receptor on human platelets by photoaffinity labeling. *J Biol Chem* (1982) 257:8049–8054. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9258(18)34295-9
- 128. Ginsberg MH, Forsyth J, Lightsey A, Chediak J, Plow EF. Reduced surface expression and binding of fibronectin by thrombin-stimulated thrombasthenic platelets. *J Clin Investig* (1983) 71:619–624. doi: 10.1172/jci110808
- 129. Tamkun JW, DeSimone DW, Fonda D, Patel RS, Buck C, Horwitz AF, Hynes RO. Structure of integrin, a glycoprotein involved in the transmembrane linkage between fibronectin and actin. *Cell* (1986) 46:271–282. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(86)90744-0
- 130. Springer T, Galfré G, Secher DS, Milstein C. Mac-1: a macrophage differentiation antigen identified by monoclonal antibody. *Eur J Immunol* (1979) 9:301–306. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830090410
- 131. Davignon D, Martz E, Reynolds T, Kürzinger K, Springer TA. Lymphocyte functionassociated antigen 1 (LFA-1): a surface antigen distinct from Lyt-2,3 that participates in T lymphocyte-mediated killing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (1981) 78:4535–4539. doi: 10.1073/pnas.78.7.4535
- 132. Cosgrove LJ, Sandrin MS, Rajasekariah P, McKenzie IF. A genomic clone encoding the alpha chain of the OKM1, LFA-1, and platelet glycoprotein IIb-IIIa molecules. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (1986) 83:752–756. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.3.752
- 133. Fitzgerald LA, Steiner B, Rall SC, Lo SS, Phillips DR. Protein sequence of endothelial glycoprotein IIIa derived from a cDNA clone. Identity with platelet glycoprotein IIIa and similarity to "integrin". *J Biol Chem* (1987) 262:3936–3939. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9258(18)61290-6
- 134. Poncz M, Eisman R, Heidenreich R, Silver SM, Vilaire G, Surrey S, Schwartz E, Bennett JS. Structure of the platelet membrane glycoprotein IIb. Homology to the alpha subunits of the vitronectin and fibronectin membrane receptors. *J Biol Chem* (1987) 262:8476–8482. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9258(18)47438-8
- 135. Argraves WS, Suzuki S, Arai H, Thompson K, Pierschbacher MD, Ruoslahti E. Amino acid sequence of the human fibronectin receptor. *J cell Biol* (1987) 105:1183– 1190. doi: 10.1083/jcb.105.3.1183
- 136. Suzuki S, Argraves WS, Arai H, Languino LR, Pierschbacher MD, Ruoslahti E. Amino acid sequence of the vitronectin receptor alpha subunit and comparative expression of adhesion receptor mRNAs. *J Biol Chem* (1987) 262:14080–14085. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9258(18)47907-0
- 137. Barczyk M, Carracedo S, Gullberg D. Integrins. *Cell Tissue Res* (2009) 339:269. doi: 10.1007/s00441-009-0834-6
- 138. Johnson MS, Lu N, Denessiouk K, Heino J, Gullberg D. Integrins during evolution: Evolutionary trees and model organisms. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) - Biomembr* (2009) 1788:779–789. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.12.013

- 139. Kechagia JZ, Ivaska J, Roca-Cusachs P. Integrins as biomechanical sensors of the microenvironment. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2019) 20:457–473. doi: 10.1038/s41580-019-0134-2
- 140. Hamidi H, Ivaska J. Every step of the way: integrins in cancer progression and metastasis. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2018) 18:533–548. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0038-z
- 141. Menter DG, DuBois RN. Prostaglandins in Cancer Cell Adhesion, Migration, and Invasion. Int J Cell Biol (2012) 2012:723419. doi: 10.1155/2012/723419
- 142. Fagerholm SC. Integrins in Health and Disease. *N Engl J Med* (2022) 387:1519– 1521. doi: 10.1056/nejmcibr2209679
- 143. Fagerholm SC, Guenther C, Asens ML, Savinko T, Uotila LM. Beta2-Integrins and Interacting Proteins in Leukocyte Trafficking, Immune Suppression, and Immunodeficiency Disease. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:254. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00254
- 144. Lamers C, Plüss CJ, Ricklin D. The Promiscuous Profile of Complement Receptor 3 in Ligand Binding, Immune Modulation, and Pathophysiology. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:662164. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.662164
- 145. Penberthy TW, Jiang Y, Luscinskas FW, Graves DT. MCP-1-stimulated monocytes preferentially utilize beta 2-integrins to migrate on laminin and fibronectin. Am J Physiol-Cell Physiol (1995) 269:C60–C68. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.1995.269.1.c60
- 146. Lishko VK, Yakubenko VP, Ugarova TP. The interplay between integrins αmβ2 and α5β1 during cell migration to fibronectin. *Exp Cell Res* (2003) 283:116–126. doi: 10.1016/s0014-4827(02)00024-1
- 147. Thompson HL, Matsushima K. Human polymorphonuclear leucocytes stimulated by tumour necrosis factor-alpha show increased adherence to extracellular matrix proteins which is mediated via the CD11b/18 complex. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1992) 90:280–285. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.1992.tb07943.x
- 148. Nathan C, Srimal S, Farber C, Sanchez E, Kabbash L, Asch A, Gailit J, Wright SD. Cytokine-induced respiratory burst of human neutrophils: dependence on extracellular matrix proteins and CD11/CD18 integrins. *J cell Biol* (1989) 109:1341– 1349. doi: 10.1083/jcb.109.3.1341
- 149. Hymes JP, Klaenhammer TR. Stuck in the Middle: Fibronectin-Binding Proteins in Gram-Positive Bacteria. *Front Microbiol* (2016) 7:1504. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01504
- 150. Vaca DJ, Thibau A, Schütz M, Kraiczy P, Happonen L, Malmström J, Kempf VAJ. Interaction with the host: the role of fibronectin and extracellular matrix proteins in the adhesion of Gram-negative bacteria. *Méd Microbiol Immunol* (2020) 209:277– 299. doi: 10.1007/s00430-019-00644-3
- 151. Talay SR, Ehrenfeld E, Chhatwal GS, Timmis KN. Expression of the fibronectinbinding components of Streptococcus pyogenes in Escherichia coli demonstrates that they are proteins. *Mol Microbiol* (1991) 5:1727–1734. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1991.tb01921.x
- 152. Sela S, Aviv A, Tovi A, Burstein I, Caparon MG, Hanski E. Protein F: an adhesin of Streptococcus pyogenes binds fibronectin via two distinct domains. *Mol Microbiol* (1993) 10:1049–1055. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1993.tb00975.x

- 153. Frick IM, Crossin KL, Edelman GM, Björck L. Protein H--a bacterial surface protein with affinity for both immunoglobulin and fibronectin type III domains. *EMBO J* (1995) 14:1674–1679. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb07156.x
- 154. Cue D, Lam H, Cleary PP. Genetic dissection of the Streptococcus pyogenes M1 protein: Regions involved in fibronectin binding and intracellular invasion. *Microbial Pathogenesis* (2001) 31:231–242. doi: 10.1006/mpat.2001.0467
- 155. Happonen L, Hauri S, Birkedal GS, Karlsson C, Neergaard T de, Khakzad H, Nordenfelt P, Wikström M, Wisniewska M, Björck L, et al. A quantitative Streptococcus pyogenes-human protein-protein interaction map reveals localization of opsonizing antibodies. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:2727. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10583-5
- 156. Frick I, Schmidtchen A, Sjöbring U. Interactions between M proteins of Streptococcus pyogenes and glycosaminoglycans promote bacterial adhesion to host cells. *Eur J Biochem* (2003) 270:2303–2311. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1033.2003.03600.x
- 157. Ferretti JJ, Stevens DL, Fischetti VA. Streptococcus pyogenes: Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations. 2nd ed. Ferretti JJ, Stevens DL, Fischetti VA, editors. Oklahoma City (OK): University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center (2022). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK587111/
- 158. Rolleston JD. The History of Scarlet Fever. *Br Med J* (1928) 2:926. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.3542.926
- 159. Dobell C. Antony van Leeuwenhoek and his "Little animals"; being some account of the father of protozoology and bacteriology and his multifarious discoveries in these disciplines. New York, Harcourt: Brace and company (1932). doi: 10.5962/bhl.title.13354
- 160. Ford BJ. From Dilettante to Diligent Experimenter, a Reappraisal of Leeuwenhoek as microscopist and investigator. *Biology History* (1992) 5:3–21.
- 161. Valk E. Een geneeskundig verhaal van de algemeene loop-ziekte, die te Kampen en in de om-geleegene streeken heeft gewoed in 't jaar 1736 neevens een werktuigkunstige, en natuurkundige beschryvinge van de oorzaak, uitwerking en genezinge waar in word aan-getoond, dat dezelve, waarschynlyk, door bloed-loose diertjes, beschreven in de werken van Anthony van Leeuwenhoek, het werd te weeg gebragt, en door kwik voor-naamentlyk, uit-geroeid. Haarlem, Netherlands: Van der Vinne (1736). 97 p.
- 162. Leeuwenhoek A van. An abstract of a letter from Mr. Anthony Leevvenhoeck at Delft, dated Sep. 17. 1683. Containing some microscopical observations, about animals in the scurf of the teeth, the substance call'd worms in the nose, the cuticula consisting of scales. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond* (1684) 14:568–574. doi: 10.1098/rstl.1684.0030
- 163. Semmelweis IP. *Die Aetiologie, der Begriff und die Prophylaxis des Kindbettfiebers.* Budapest, Vienna, and Leipzig: A. Hartleben's Verlag (1861).
- 164. Ataman AD, Vatanoglu EE, Yildirim G. Medicine in stamps-Ignaz Semmelweis and Puerperal Fever. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc (2013) 14:35–39. doi: 10.5152/jtgga.2013.08

- 165. Billroth T. Untersuchungen über die Vegetationsformen von Coccobacteria septica und der Antheil, welchen sie an der Entstehung und Verbreitung der accidentellen Wundkrankheiten haben. Berlin: Georg Reimer (1874).
- 166. Alouf JE, Horaud T. Streptococci and the Host. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (1997) 418:7–14. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4899-1825-3_4
- 167. Evans AC. Studies on Hemolytic Streptococci: II. Streptococcus pyogenes. J Bacteriol (1936) 31:611–624. doi: 10.1128/jb.31.6.611-624.1936
- Schottmüller H. Die Artunterscheidung der für den Menschen pathogenen Streptokokken durch Blutagar. Münchener Medizinische Wochenschrift (1903)848– 853.
- 169. Dochez AR, Avery OT, Lancefield RC. Studies on the Biology of Streptococcus. J Exp Med (1919) 30:179–213. doi: 10.1084/jem.30.3.179
- 170. Whatmore AM, Kehoe MA. Horizontal gene transfer in the evolution of group A streptococcal emm-like genes: gene mosaics and variation in Vir regulons. *Mol Microbiol* (1994) 11:363–374. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1994.tb00316.x
- 171. Beall B, Facklam R, Thompson T. Sequencing emm-specific PCR products for routine and accurate typing of group A streptococci. *J Clin Microbiol* (1996) 34:953– 958. doi: 10.1128/jcm.34.4.953-958.1996
- 172. Bessen DE, Smeesters PR, Beall BW. Molecular Epidemiology, Ecology, and Evolution of Group A Streptococci. *Microbiol Spectr* (2018) 6: doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.cpp3-0009-2018
- 173. Davies MR, Keller N, Brouwer S, Jespersen MG, Cork AJ, Hayes AJ, Pitt ME, Oliveira DMPD, Harbison-Price N, Bertolla OM, et al. Detection of Streptococcus pyogenes M1UK in Australia and characterization of the mutation driving enhanced expression of superantigen SpeA. *Nat Commun* (2023) 14:1051. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-36717-4
- 174. Sanderson-Smith M, Oliveira DMPD, Guglielmini J, McMillan DJ, Vu T, Holien JK, Henningham A, Steer AC, Bessen DE, Dale JB, et al. A systematic and functional classification of Streptococcus pyogenes that serves as a new tool for molecular typing and vaccine development. *J Infect Dis* (2014) 210:1325–1338. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu260
- 175. Richardson LJ, Tong SYC, Towers RJ, Huygens F, McGregor K, Fagan PK, Currie BJ, Carapetis JR, Giffard PM. Preliminary validation of a novel high-resolution meltbased typing method based on the multilocus sequence typing scheme of Streptococcus pyogenes. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2011) 17:1426–1434. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2010.03433.x
- 176. Li Y, Rivers J, Mathis S, Li Z, Velusamy S, Nanduri SA, Beneden CAV, Snippes-Vagnone P, Lynfield R, McGee L, et al. Genomic Surveillance of Streptococcus pyogenes Strains Causing Invasive Disease, United States, 2016–2017. Frontiers in Microbiology (2020) 11:1–13. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.01547
- 177. Bessen DE. Population biology of the human restricted pathogen, Streptococcus pyogenes. *Infect, Genet Evol : J Mol epidemiology Evol Genet Infect Dis* (2008) 9:581–93. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2009.03.002

- 178. Lefébure T, Richards VP, Lang P, Pavinski-Bitar P, Stanhope MJ. Gene Repertoire Evolution of Streptococcus pyogenes Inferred from Phylogenomic Analysis with Streptococcus canis and Streptococcus dysgalactiae. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e37607. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037607
- 179. Wilkening RV, Federle MJ. Evolutionary Constraints Shaping Streptococcus pyogenes–Host Interactions. *Trends Microbiol* (2017) 25:562–572. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2017.01.007
- 180. Miller KM, Carapetis JR, Beneden CAV, Cadarette D, Daw JN, Moore HC, Bloom DE, Cannon JW. The global burden of sore throat and group A Streptococcus pharyngitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eclinicalmedicine* (2022) 48:101458. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2022.101458
- 181. Bisno AL, Stevens DL. Streptococcal Infections of Skin and Soft Tissues. N Engl J Med (1996) 334:240–246. doi: 10.1056/nejm199601253340407
- 182. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, Bellomo R, Bernard GR, Chiche J-D, Coopersmith CM, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA (2016) 315:801–810. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287
- 183. Stevens DL, Tanner MH, Winship J, Swarts R, Ries KM, Schlievert PM, Kaplan E. Severe Group A Streptococcal Infections Associated with a Toxic Shock-like Syndrome and Scarlet Fever Toxin A. N Engl J Med (1989) 321:1–7. doi: 10.1056/nejm198907063210101
- 184. Carapetis JR, Steer AC, Mulholland EK, Weber M. The global burden of group A streptococcal diseases. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2005) 5:685–694. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(05)70267-x
- 185. Wessels MR. "Streptococcus pyogenes Pharyngitis and Scarlet Fever.," In: Ferretti JJ, Stevens DL, Fischetti VA, editors. Streptococcus pyogenes: Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations [Internet]. 2nd edition. Oklahoma City (OK): University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center (2022) https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK587104/
- 186. Stevens DL, Bryant AE. "Infections of the Skin, Muscles, and Soft Tissues.," In: Loscalzo J, Fauci A, Kasper D, Hauser" "Stephen, Longo D, Jameson"] "J. Larry, editors. *Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine, 21e*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education (2022) accessmedicine.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1198219035
- 187. Block SL. Streptococcal pharyngitis: guidelines, treatment issues, and sequelae. *Pediatr Ann* (2014) 43:11–6. doi: 10.3928/00904481-20131228-04
- Cunningham MW. Post-Streptococcal Autoimmune Sequelae: Rheumatic Fever and Beyond. Streptococcus pyogenes : Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations (2016)1– 37.
- 189. Marijon E, Mirabel M, Celermajer DS, Jouven X. Rheumatic heart disease. *Lancet* (2012) 379:953–964. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)61171-9
- 190. Cunningham MW. Molecular Mimicry, Autoimmunity, and Infection: The Cross-Reactive Antigens of Group A Streptococci and their Sequelae. *Microbiol Spectr* (2019) 7: doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.gpp3-0045-2018

- 191. Martin J. "The Carrier State of Streptococcus pyogenes.," In: Ferretti JJ, Stevens DL, Fischetti VA, editors. Streptococcus pyogenes: Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations, 2nd edition. Oklahoma City (OK): University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center (2022) <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK587119/</u>
- 192. Levy RM, Leyden JJ, Margolis DJ. Colonisation rates of Streptococcus pyogenes and Staphylococcus aureus in the oropharynx of a young adult population. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2005) 11:153–155. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2004.01042.x
- 193. Brown SP, Cornforth DM, Mideo N. Evolution of virulence in opportunistic pathogens: generalism, plasticity, and control. *Trends Microbiol* (2012) 20:336–342. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2012.04.005
- 194. Waldetoft KW, Råberg L. To harm or not to harm? On the evolution and expression of virulence in group A streptococci. *Trends Microbiol* (2014) 22:7–13. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2013.10.006
- 195. Avire NJ, Whiley H, Ross K. A Review of Streptococcus pyogenes: Public Health Risk Factors, Prevention and Control. *Pathogens* (2021) 10:248. doi: 10.3390/pathogens10020248
- 196. Cannon JW, Abouzeid M, Klerk N de, Dibben C, Carapetis JR, Katzenellenbogen JM. Environmental and social determinants of acute rheumatic fever: a longitudinal cohort study. *Epidemiology Infect* (2019) 147:e79. doi: 10.1017/s0950268818003527
- 197. Langley G, Hao Y, Pondo T, Miller L, Petit S, Thomas A, Lindegren ML, Farley MM, Dumyati G, Como-Sabetti K, et al. The Impact of Obesity and Diabetes on the Risk of Disease and Death due to Invasive Group A Streptococcus Infections in Adults. *Clin Infect Dis* (2016) 62:845–852. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ1032
- 198. Saavedra-Campos M, Simone B, BALASEGARAM S, Wright A, Usdin M, Lamagni T. Estimating the risk of invasive group A Streptococcus infection in care home residents in England, 2009–2010. *Epidemiology Infect* (2017) 145:2759–2765. doi: 10.1017/s0950268817001674
- 199. Dickinson H, Reacher M, Nazareth B, Eagle H, Fowler D, Underwood A, Chand M, Chalker V, Coelho J, Daniel R, et al. Whole-genome sequencing in the investigation of recurrent invasive group A streptococcus outbreaks in a maternity unit. *J Hosp Infect* (2019) 101:320–326. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2018.03.018
- 200. Hammond-Collins K, Strauss B, Barnes K, Demczuk W, Domingo M-C, Lamontagne M-C, Lu D, Martin I, Tepper M. Group A Streptococcus Outbreak in a Canadian Armed Forces Training Facility. *Mil Med* (2018) 184:e197–e204. doi: 10.1093/milmed/usy198
- 201. Nanduri SA, Metcalf BJ, Arwady MA, Edens C, Lavin MA, Morgan J, Clegg W, Beron A, Albertson JP, Link-Gelles R, et al. Prolonged and large outbreak of invasive group A Streptococcus disease within a nursing home: repeated intrafacility transmission of a single strain. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2019) 25:248.e1-248.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2018.04.034

- 202. Chalker VJ, Smith A, Al-Shahib A, Botchway S, Macdonald E, Daniel R, Phillips S, Platt S, Doumith M, Tewolde R, et al. Integration of Genomic and Other Epidemiologic Data to Investigate and Control a Cross-Institutional Outbreak of Streptococcus pyogenes Volume 22, Number 6—June 2016 Emerging Infectious Diseases journal CDC. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2016) 22:973–980. doi: 10.3201/eid2206.142050
- 203. Ralph AP, Carapetis JR. Host-Pathogen Interactions in Streptococcal Diseases. Curr Top Microbiol (2012) 368:1–27. doi: 10.1007/82_2012_280
- 204. Miller KM, Carapetis JR, Beneden CAV, Cadarette D, Daw JN, Moore HC, Bloom DE, Cannon JW. The global burden of sore throat and group A Streptococcus pharyngitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eclinicalmedicine* (2022) 48:101458. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2022.101458
- 205. Spinks A, Glasziou PP, Mar CBD. Antibiotics for sore throat. *Cochrane Database* Syst Rev (2013)CD000023. doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd000023.pub4
- 206. Oliver J, Bennett J, Thomas S, Zhang J, Pierse N, Moreland NJ, Williamson DA, Jack S, Baker M. Preceding group A streptococcus skin and throat infections are individually associated with acute rheumatic fever: evidence from New Zealand. *BMJ Glob Heal* (2021) 6:e007038. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2021-007038
- 207. Norrby-Teglund A, Siemens N. Is It Time to Reconsider the Group A Streptococcal Rheumatogenic Concept? *Clin Infect Dis* (2019) 70:1461–1462. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciz427
- 208. (IHME) I for HM and E. Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 (GBD 2019) Results (2020) <u>https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/</u>. [Accessed July 17, 2023]
- 209. Hand RM, Snelling TL, Carapetis JR. Hunter's Tropical Medicine and Emerging Infectious Diseases. *Hunt's Trop Med Emerg Infect Dis* (2020)429–438. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-323-55512-8.00040-5
- 210. A. WD, O. JC, M. CS, Ganesan K, Andrea B, Gene B, H. FM, T. LC, M. MB, A. MG, et al. Global, Regional, and National Burden of Rheumatic Heart Disease, 1990–2015. *N Engl J Med* (2017) 377:713–722. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1603693
- 211. Lv M, Jiang S, Liao D, Lin Z, Chen H, Zhang J. Global burden of rheumatic heart disease and its association with socioeconomic development status, 1990–2019. Eur J Prev Cardiol (2022) 29:1425–1434. doi: 10.1093/eurjpc/zwac044
- 212. Ou Z, Yu D, Liang Y, Wu J, He H, Li Y, He W, Gao Y, Wu F, Chen Q. Global burden of rheumatic heart disease: trends from 1990 to 2019. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2022) 24:138. doi: 10.1186/s13075-022-02829-3
- 213. Guan C, Xu W, Wu S, Zhang J. Rheumatic heart disease burden, trends, and inequalities in Asia, 1990–2019. *Glob Heal Action* (2023) 16:2215011. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2023.2215011
- 214. Ghamari S, Abbasi-Kangevari M, Moghaddam SS, Aminorroaya A, Rezaei N, Shobeiri P, Esfahani Z, Malekpour M, Rezaei N, Ghanbari A, et al. Rheumatic Heart Disease Is a Neglected Disease Relative to Its Burden Worldwide: Findings From Global Burden of Disease 2019. J Am Hear Assoc (2022) 11:e025284. doi: 10.1161/jaha.122.025284

- 215. Avire NJ, Whiley H, Ross K. A Review of Streptococcus pyogenes: Public Health Risk Factors, Prevention and Control. *Pathogens* (2021) 10:248. doi: 10.3390/pathogens10020248
- 216. Rwebembera J, Nascimento BR, Minja NW, Loizaga S de, Aliku T, Santos LPA dos, Galdino BF, Corte LS, Silva VR, Chang AY, et al. Recent Advances in the Rheumatic Fever and Rheumatic Heart Disease Continuum. *Pathogens* (2022) 11:179. doi: 10.3390/pathogens11020179
- 217. Ralph AP, Carapetis JR. Host-Pathogen Interactions in Streptococcal Diseases. Curr Top Microbiol (2012) 368:1–27. doi: 10.1007/82_2012_280
- 218. Dale JB, Walker MJ. Update on group A streptococcal vaccine development. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* (2020) 33:244–250. doi: 10.1097/qco.0000000000644
- 219. Vekemans J, Gouvea-Reis F, Kim JH, Excler J-L, Smeesters PR, O'Brien KL, Beneden CAV, Steer AC, Carapetis JR, Kaslow DC. The path to group A Streptococcus vaccines: WHO research and development technology roadmap and preferred product characteristics. *Clin Infect Dis* (2019) 69:ciy1143-. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy1143
- 220. Bono-Neri F. Acute Rheumatic Fever: Global Persistence of a Preventable Disease. J Pediatr Heal Care (2017) 31:275–284. doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2016.09.001
- Waddington CS, Snelling TL, Carapetis JR. Management of invasive group A streptococcal infections. J Infect (2014) 69:S63–S69. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2014.08.005
- 222. White A. WHO Resolution on rheumatic heart disease. *Eur Hear J* (2018) 39:4233–4233. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy764
- 223. Brouwer S, Barnett TC, Rivera-Hernandez T, Rohde M, Walker MJ. Streptococcus pyogenes adhesion and colonization. (2016)
- 224. Hasty DL, Ofek I, Courtney HS, Doyle RJ. Multiple adhesins of streptococci. *Infect Immun* (1992) 60:2147–2152. doi: 10.1128/iai.60.6.2147-2152.1992
- 225. Oliveira DMPD, Hartley-Tassell L, Everest-Dass A, Day CJ, Dabbs RA, Ve T, Kobe B, Nizet V, Packer NH, Walker MJ, et al. Blood Group Antigen Recognition via the Group A Streptococcal M Protein Mediates Host Colonization. *mBio* (2017) 8:e02237-16. doi: 10.1128/mbio.02237-16
- 226. Walker MJ, Barnett TC, McArthur JD, Cole JN, Gillen CM, Henningham A, Sriprakash KS, Sanderson-Smith ML, Nizet V. Disease manifestations and pathogenic mechanisms of group A Streptococcus. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* (2014) 27:264–301. doi: 10.1128/cmr.00101-13
- 227. Barnett T, Indraratna A, Sanderson-Smith and M. "Secreted Virulence Factors of Streptococcus pyogenes.," In: Ferretti JJ, Stevens DL, Fischetti VA, editors. Streptococcus pyogenes: Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations, 2nd edition. Oklahoma City (OK): University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center (2022) https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK587095/
- 228. Movert E, Bolarin JS, Valfridsson C, Velarde J, Skrede S, Nekludov M, Hyldegaard O, Arnell P, Svensson M, Norrby-Teglund A, et al. Interplay between human STING genotype and bacterial NADase activity regulates inter-individual disease variability. *Nat Commun* (2023) 14:4008. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-39771-0

- 229. Cole JN, Barnett TC, Nizet V, Walker MJ. Molecular insight into invasive group A streptococcal disease. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2011) 9:724–736. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2648
- 230. Deacy AM, Gan SK-E, Derrick JP. Superantigen Recognition and Interactions: Functions, Mechanisms and Applications. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:731845. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.731845
- 231. Norrby-Teglund A, Chatellier S, Low DE, McGeer A, Green K, Kotb M. Host variation in cytokine responses to superantigens determine the severity of invasive group A streptococcal infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) 30:3247–3255. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200011)30:11<3247::aid-immu3247>3.0.co;2-d
- 232. Proft T, Fraser JD. "Streptococcus pyogenes Superantigens: Biological properties and potential role in disease.," In: Ferretti JJ, Stevens DL, Fischetti VA, editors. *Streptococcus pyogenes: Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations*. Oklahoma City (OK): University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center (2022) <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK587120/</u>
- 233. Brosnahan AJ, Schlievert PM. Gram-positive bacterial superantigen outside-in signaling causes toxic shock syndrome. *FEBS J* (2011) 278:4649–4667. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2011.08151.x
- 234. Kawabe Y, Ochi A. Selective anergy of V beta 8+,CD4+ T cells in Staphylococcus enterotoxin B-primed mice. J Exp Med (1990) 172:1065–1070. doi: 10.1084/jem.172.4.1065
- 235. Brouwer S, Barnett TC, Ly D, Kasper KJ, Oliveira DMPD, Rivera-Hernandez T, Cork AJ, McIntyre L, Jespersen MG, Richter J, et al. Prophage exotoxins enhance colonization fitness in epidemic scarlet fever-causing Streptococcus pyogenes. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:5018. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18700-5
- 236. Betschel SD, Borgia SM, Barg NL, Low DE, Azavedo JCSD. Reduced Virulence of Group A Streptococcal Tn 916 Mutants That Do Not Produce Streptolysin S. *Infect Immun* (1998) 66:1671–1679. doi: 10.1128/iai.66.4.1671-1679.1998
- 237. Valderrama JA, Riestra AM, Gao NJ, LaRock CN, Gupta N, Ali SR, Hoffman HM, Ghosh P, Nizet V. Group A streptococcal M protein activates the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Nat Microbiol* (2017) 2:1425–1434. doi: 10.1038/s41564-017-0005-6
- 238. Påhlman LI, Olin AI, Darenberg J, Mörgelin M, Kotb M, Herwald H, Norrby-Teglund A. Soluble M1 protein of Streptococcus pyogenes triggers potent T cell activation. *Cell Microbiol* (2008) 10:404–414. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.01053.x
- 239. Ermert D, Weckel A, Agarwal V, Frick I-M, Björck L, Blom AM. Binding of Complement Inhibitor C4b-binding Protein to a Highly Virulent Streptococcus pyogenes M1 Strain Is Mediated by Protein H and Enhances Adhesion to and Invasion of Endothelial Cells*. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:32172–32183. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m113.502955
- 240. Pawel-Rammingen U von, Johansson BP, Björck L. IdeS, a novel streptococcal cysteine proteinase with unique specificity for immunoglobulin G. *EMBO J* (2002) 21:1607–1615. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21.7.1607

- 241. Collin M, Olsén A. EndoS, a novel secreted protein from Streptococcus pyogenes with endoglycosidase activity on human IgG. *EMBO J* (2001) 20:3046–3055. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.12.3046
- 242. Allhorn M, Briceño JG, Baudino L, Lood C, Olsson ML, Izui S, Collin M. The IgG-specific endoglycosidase EndoS inhibits both cellular and complement-mediated autoimmune hemolysis. *Blood* (2010) 115:5080–5088. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-239020
- 243. Walker MJ, McArthur JD, McKay F, Ranson M. Is plasminogen deployed as a Streptococcus pyogenes virulence factor? *Trends Microbiol* (2005) 13:308–313. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2005.05.006
- 244. Sanderson-Smith ML, Dinkla K, Cole JN, Cork AJ, Maamary PG, McArthur JD, Chhatwal GS, Walker MJ. M protein-mediated plasminogen binding is essential for the virulence of an invasive Streptococcus pyogenes isolate. *FASEB J* (2008) 22:2715–2722. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-105643
- 245. Fischetti VA. Streptococcal M protein: molecular design and biological behavior. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (1989) 2:285–314. doi: 10.1128/cmr.2.3.285
- 246. Nordenfelt P, Waldemarson S, Linder A, Mörgelin M, Karlsson C, Malmström J, Björck L. Antibody orientation at bacterial surfaces is related to invasive infection. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* (2012) 209:2367–2381. doi: 10.1084/jem.20120325
- 247. Dombek PE, Cue D, Sedgewick J, Lam H, Ruschkowski S, Finlay BB, Cleary PP. High-frequency intracellular invasion of epithelial cells by serotype M1 group A streptococci: M1 protein-mediated invasion and cytoskeletal rearrangements. *Molecular Microbiology* (1999) 31:859–870. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01223.x
- 248. Frick I, Mörgelin M, Björck L. Virulent aggregates of Streptococcus pyogenes are generated by homophilic protein–protein interactions. *Mol Microbiol* (2000) 37:1232–1247. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.02084.x
- 249. Kolesinski P, Wang K-C, Hirose Y, Nizet V, Ghosh P. An M protein coiled coil unfurls and exposes its hydrophobic core to capture LL-37. *Elife* (2022) 11:e77989. doi: 10.7554/elife.77989
- 250. Påhlman LI, Mörgelin M, Eckert J, Johansson L, Russell W, Riesbeck K, Soehnlein O, Lindbom L, Norrby-Teglund A, Schumann RR, et al. Streptococcal M Protein: A Multipotent and Powerful Inducer of Inflammation. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:1221–1228. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.2.1221
- 251. Vyas HKN, Proctor E-J, McArthur J, Gorman J, Sanderson-Smith M. Current Understanding of Group A Streptococcal Biofilms. *Curr Drug Targets* (2019) 20:982–993. doi: 10.2174/1389450120666190405095712
- 252. Carlsson F, Berggård K, Stålhammar-Carlemalm M, Lindahl G. Evasion of Phagocytosis through Cooperation between Two Ligand-binding Regions in Streptococcus pyogenes M Protein. J Exp Med (2003) 198:1057–1068. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030543

- 253. Kirvan CA, Galvin JE, Hilt S, Kosanke S, Cunningham MW. Identification of Streptococcal M-Protein Cardiopathogenic Epitopes in Experimental Autoimmune Valvulitis. J Cardiovasc Transl Res (2014) 7:172–181. doi: 10.1007/s12265-013-9526-4
- 254. Massell BF, Honikman LH, Amezcua J. Rheumatic Fever Following Streptococcal Vaccination: Report of Three Cases. JAMA (1969) 207:1115–1119. doi: 10.1001/jama.1969.03150190037007
- 255. McNamara C, Zinkernagel AS, Macheboeuf P, Cunningham MW, Nizet V, Ghosh P. Coiled-coil irregularities and instabilities in group A Streptococcus M1 are required for virulence. *Science* (2008) 319:1405–1408. doi: 10.1126/science.1154470
- 256. Carlsson F, Stålhammar-Carlemalm M, Flärdh K, Sandin C, Carlemalm E, Lindahl G. Signal sequence directs localized secretion of bacterial surface proteins. *Nature* (2006) 442:943–946. doi: 10.1038/nature05021
- 257. Ghosh P. The nonideal coiled coil of M protein and its multifarious functions in pathogenesis. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2011) 715:197–211. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-0940-9_12
- 258. Herwald H, Cramer H, Mörgelin M, Russell W, Sollenberg U, Norrby-Teglund A, Flodgaard H, Lindbom L, Björck L. M Protein, a Classical Bacterial Virulence Determinant, Forms Complexes with Fibrinogen that Induce Vascular Leakage. *Cell* (2004) 116:367–379. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(04)00057-1
- 259. McMillan DJ, Drèze P -A., Vu T, Bessen DE, Guglielmini J, Steer AC, Carapetis JR, Melderen L, Sriprakash KS, Smeesters PR. Updated model of group A Streptococcus M proteins based on a comprehensive worldwide study. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2013) 19:E222–E229. doi: 10.1111/1469-0691.12134
- 260. Frost HR, Davies MR, Velusamy S, Delforge V, Erhart A, Darboe S, Steer A, Walker MJ, Beall B, Botteaux A, et al. Updated emm-typing protocol for Streptococcus pyogenes. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* (2020) 26:946.e5-946.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.02.026
- 261. Aziz RK, Kotb M. Rise and Persistence of Global M1T1 Clone of Streptococcus pyogenes - Volume 14, Number 10—October 2008 - Emerging Infectious Diseases journal - CDC. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2008) 14:1511–1517. doi: 10.3201/eid1410.071660
- 262. Manjula BN, Fischetti VA. Tropomyosin-like seven residue periodicity in three immunologically distinct streptococal M proteins and its implications for the antiphagocytic property of the molecule. *J Exp Med* (1980) 151:695–708. doi: 10.1084/jem.151.3.695
- 263. Cedervall T, Johansson MU, Åkerström B. Coiled-Coil Structure of Group A Streptococcal M Proteins. Different Temperature Stability of Class A and C Proteins by Hydrophobic–Nonhydrophobic Amino Acid Substitutions at Heptad Positions a and d[†]. *Biochemistry-us* (1997) 36:4987–4994. doi: 10.1021/bi962971q
- 264. Sessler DI. Perioperative thermoregulation and heat balance. *Lancet* (2016) 387:2655–2664. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(15)00981-2

- 265. Stewart CM, Buffalo CZ, Valderrama JA, Henningham A, Cole JN, Nizet V, Ghosh P. Coiled-coil destabilizing residues in the group A Streptococcus M1 protein are required for functional interaction. *Proc National Acad Sci* (2016) 113:9515–9520. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1606160113
- 266. Carlsson F, Sandin C, Lindahl G. Human fibrinogen bound to Streptococcus pyogenes M protein inhibits complement deposition via the classical pathway. *Mol Microbiol* (2005) 56:28–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04527.x
- 267. Ermert D, Laabei M, Weckel A, Mörgelin M, Lundqvist M, Björck L, Ram S, Linse S, Blom AM. The molecular basis of human igg-mediated enhancement of C4bbinding protein recruitment to group a streptococcus. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1–15. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01230
- 268. Lehmann AK, Sørnes S, Halstensen A. Phagocytosis: measurement by flow cytometry. J Immunol Methods (2000) 243:229–242. doi: 10.1016/s0022-1759(00)00237-4
- 269. Park Y, Abihssira-García IS, Thalmann S, Wiegertjes GF, Barreda DR, Olsvik PA, Kiron V. Imaging Flow Cytometry Protocols for Examining Phagocytosis of Microplastics and Bioparticles by Immune Cells of Aquatic Animals. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:203. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00203
- 270. Uribe-Querol E, Rosales C. Phagocytosis: Our Current Understanding of a Universal Biological Process. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1066. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01066
- 271. Baranov MV, Kumar M, Sacanna S, Thutupalli S, Bogaart G van den. Modulation of Immune Responses by Particle Size and Shape. *Front Immunol* (2021) 11:607945. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.607945
- 272. Karavitis J, Kovacs EJ. Macrophage phagocytosis: effects of environmental pollutants, alcohol, cigarette smoke, and other external factors. *J Leukoc Biol* (2011) 90:1065–1078. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0311114
- 273. Gold V. *The IUPAC Compendium of Chemical Terminology*. 2nd ed. Chalk S, editor. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications (1997). doi: 10.1351/goldbook.c01170
- 274. Casadevall A, Dadachova E, Pirofski L. Passive antibody therapy for infectious diseases. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2004) 2:695–703. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro974
- 275. Gent DC van, Ramsden DA, Gellert M. The RAG1 and RAG2 Proteins Establish the 12/23 Rule in V(D)J Recombination. *Cell* (1996) 85:107–113. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81086-7
- 276. Wilson PC, Bouteiller O de, Liu Y-J, Potter K, Banchereau J, Capra JD, Pascual V. Somatic Hypermutation Introduces Insertions and Deletions into Immunoglobulin V Genes. J Exp Med (1998) 187:59–70. doi: 10.1084/jem.187.1.59
- 277. Klein JS, Bjorkman PJ. Few and Far Between: How HIV May Be Evading Antibody Avidity. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) 6:e1000908. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000908
- 278. Pandey M, Ozberk V, Calcutt A, Langshaw E, Powell J, Rivera-Hernandez T, Ho M-F, Philips Z, Batzloff MR, Good MF. Streptococcal Immunity Is Constrained by Lack of Immunological Memory following a Single Episode of Pyoderma. *PLoS Pathog* (2016) 12:e1006122. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006122

- 279. Walkinshaw DR, Wright MEE, Mullin AE, Excler J-L, Kim JH, Steer AC. The Streptococcus pyogenes vaccine landscape. *npj Vaccines* (2023) 8:16. doi: 10.1038/s41541-023-00609-x
- 280. Motley MP, Banerjee K, Fries BC. Monoclonal antibody-based therapies for bacterial infections. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* (2019) 32:210–216. doi: 10.1097/qco.00000000000539
- 281. Trkola A, Purtscher M, Muster T, Ballaun C, Buchacher A, Sullivan N, Srinivasan K, Sodroski J, Moore JP, Katinger H. Human monoclonal antibody 2G12 defines a distinctive neutralization epitope on the gp120 glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* (1996) 70:1100–1108. doi: 10.1128/jvi.70.2.1100-1108.1996
- 282. Sandin S, Öfverstedt L-G, Wikström A-C, Wrange Ö, Skoglund U. Structure and Flexibility of Individual Immunoglobulin G Molecules in Solution. *Structure* (2004) 12:409–415. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2004.02.011
- 283. Sondermann P, Huber R, Oosthuizen V, Jacob U. The 3.2-Å crystal structure of the human IgG1 Fc fragment–FcγRIII complex. *Nature* (2000) 406:267–273. doi: 10.1038/35018508
- 284. Preissner KT, Chhatwal GS. Extracellular Matrix Interactions with Gram-Positive Pathogens. Gram-Positive Pathogens, Second Edition (2014)89–99. doi: 10.1128/9781555816513.ch8
- 285. Hauck CR, Borisova M, Muenzner P. Exploitation of integrin function by pathogenic microbes. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* (2012) 24:637–644. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2012.07.004
- 286. Jones KF, Fischetti VA. The importance of the location of antibody binding on the M6 protein for opsonization and phagocytosis of group A M6 streptococci. *J Exp Med* (1988) 167:1114–1123. doi: 10.1084/jem.167.3.1114
- 287. Ferretti JJ, McShan WM, Ajdic D, Savic DJ, Savic G, Lyon K, Primeaux C, Sezate S, Suvorov AN, Kenton S, et al. Complete genome sequence of an M1 strain of streptococcus pyogenes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* (2001) 98:4658–4663. doi: 10.1073/pnas.071559398
- 288. Fux CA, Shirtliff M, Stoodley P, Costerton JW. Can laboratory reference strains mirror 'real-world' pathogenesis? *Trends Microbiol* (2005) 13:58–63. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2004.11.001
- 289. CEDERVALL T, ÅKESSON P, STENBERG L, HERRMANN A, ÅKERSTRÖM B. Allosteric and Temperature Effects on the Plasma Protein Binding by Streptococcal M Protein Family Members. *Scand J Immunol* (1995) 42:433–441. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.1995.tb03677.x
- 290. Collin M, Svensson MD, Sjöholm AG, Jensenius JC, Sjöbring U, Olsén A. EndoS and SpeB from Streptococcus pyogenes Inhibit Immunoglobulin-Mediated Opsonophagocytosis. *Infect Immun* (2002) 70:6646–6651. doi: 10.1128/iai.70.12.6646-6651.2002
- 291. Mosher DF. Plasma Fibronectin Concentration. *Arter, Thromb, Vasc Biol* (2006) 26:1193–1195. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.0000223342.15969.7a

- 292. Linde A, Berghem LE, Hansson H-A, Jonsson R, Redfors Y. Ultrastructural localization of fibronectin in duct cells of human minor salivary glands and its immunochemical detection in minor salivary gland secretion. *Arch Oral Biol* (1984) 29:921–925. doi: 10.1016/0003-9969(84)90092-x
- 293. Dan JM, Havenar-Daughton C, Kendric K, Al-kolla R, Kaushik K, Rosales SL, Anderson EL, LaRock CN, Vijayanand P, Seumois G, et al. Recurrent group A Streptococcus tonsillitis is an immunosusceptibility disease involving antibody deficiency and aberrant TFH cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2019) 11: doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aau3776
- 294. Junker F, Gordon J, Qureshi O. Fc Gamma Receptors and Their Role in Antigen Uptake, Presentation, and T Cell Activation. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1393. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01393
- 295. Fleit HB, Kobasiuk CD. The Human Monocyte-Like Cell Line THP-1 Expresses FcγRI and FCγRII. *J Leukoc Biol* (1991) 49:556–565. doi: 10.1002/jlb.49.6.556
- 296. Strohmeyer N, Bharadwaj M, Costell M, Fässler R, Müller DJ. Fibronectin-bound α5β1 integrins sense load and signal to reinforce adhesion in less than a second. *Nat Mater* (2017) 16:1262–1270. doi: 10.1038/nmat5023
- 297. Reyes AA, Small SJ, Akeson R. At least 27 alternatively spliced forms of the neural cell adhesion molecule mRNA are expressed during rat heart development. *Mol Cell Biol* (1991) 11:1654–1661. doi: 10.1128/mcb.11.3.1654
- 298. Acker HHV, Capsomidis A, Smits EL, Tendeloo VFV. CD56 in the Immune System: More Than a Marker for Cytotoxicity? *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:892. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00892
- 299. Ziegler S, Weiss E, Schmitt A-L, Schlegel J, Burgert A, Terpitz U, Sauer M, Moretta L, Sivori S, Leonhardt I, et al. CD56 Is a Pathogen Recognition Receptor on Human Natural Killer Cells. *Sci Rep-uk* (2017) 7:6138. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06238-4
- 300. Cunningham BA, Hemperly JJ, Murray BA, Prediger EA, Brackenbury R, Edelman GM. Neural Cell Adhesion Molecule: Structure, Immunoglobulin-Like Domains, Cell Surface Modulation, and Alternative RNA Splicing. *Science* (1987) 236:799– 806. doi: 10.1126/science.3576199
- 301. Wrighton S, Ahnlide VK, André O, Bahnan W, Nordenfelt P. Group A streptococci induce stronger M protein-fibronectin interaction when specific human antibodies are bound. *Front Microbiol* (2023) 14:1069789. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2023.1069789
- 302. Laabei M, Ermert D. Catch Me if You Can: Streptococcus pyogenes Complement Evasion Strategies. *J Innate Immun* (2018) 11:3–12. doi: 10.1159/000492944

Acknowledgements

Although it's somewhat surreal to acknowledge, the completion of this thesis closes a significant chapter in my life. Reflecting on these years, I recognize them as a transformative period that has profoundly influenced my understanding of the world and my place within it. Immersing myself in scientific inquiry, I have come to appreciate it not just as a method but as a comprehensive approach to understanding the world – encouraging an endless cycle of curiosity and questioning. The many challenges encountered along this path have served as important reminders that nothing in life is guaranteed, emphasizing the importance of gratitude for every opportunity and experience I've had. These hurdles have also bolstered my selfconfidence; while humility has its merits, there are moments that call for trusting one's own instincts. Naturally, this journey would have been unattainable without the unwavering support from friends, colleagues, and family:

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, **Pontus Nordenfelt**. Thank you for placing your trust in me when I reached out with that initial email years ago. From our very first meeting at BMC, when you outlined your lab's areas of research, I knew immediately: this is the kind of research I want to do. Thank you for your unwavering guidance, encouragement, and mentorship throughout this academic journey. Your invaluable insights and conscientious critiques have been essential in shaping both my research and me as a scientist.

I would also like to thank my co-supervisors, **Anders Håkansson** and **Wael Bahnan**, who both contributed to my PhD studies in important ways. **Anders**, your early feedback and broad knowledge in the field were critical in the further development of my research projects. **Wael**, thank you for taking the time to teach me many of the fundamentals I rely on every day in the lab.

I am very fortunate to have been part of an amazing research group. A special thanks to all the past and present lab members of the Nordenfelt lab, **Arman, Berit, Johannes, Kalle, Kesavan, Martin, Oscar, Therese,** and **Vibha**. Thank you for providing a stimulating and fun environment in which to learn and grow. I couldn't imagine how this PhD would have gone if it weren't for the mandatory, intermittent fika breaks where – let's be honest – most of the best ideas are born.

I would also like to thank my other colleagues and co-authors for their friendship, collaboration, and contributions to this work: Ariane, Di, Elham, Inga-Maria, Johanna, Kabilan, Lasse, Linn, Lotta, Maria, Mattias, Sounak, Swathi, Tobias, Vinay, and Wesley. Your perspectives and skills have been complementary to my own, and the importance of our joint efforts is reflected in the quality of the papers we've published together. Thank you for making BMC such a great working environment.

Speaking of BMC, a special thanks to **Anita**, without whom BMC would likely already be reduced to a pile of ash. Thank you for your kindness and always taking the time to help me throughout the years.

Furthermore, a special mention goes out to **Ulrikke Voss**. Thank you for your kind and thoughtful supervision during the IFMSA research exchange all those years ago. I am so grateful that you believed in me and made it possible that I'm here right now.

Finally, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to my family. **Mum** and **Leonie**, I am so grateful that I was able to grow up with such amazing role models. I wouldn't be the person I am today if it weren't for both of you. Thank you for always being there to support me, even when I didn't know I needed it. **Dad**, thank you for your continued support and always teaching me something new about music theory – even if I can never quite follow. **Ami** und **Opa**, vielen Dank, dass ihr immer an mich geglaubt habt. So vieles in meinem Leben, wie auch diese Arbeit, wäre ohne euch nie möglich gewesen. And last but certainly not least **Arushi**, I don't know how to thank you enough for always being there for me in difficult times and throughout somehow always managing to put a smile on my face. I am so grateful for every moment that we share and can't wait for the rest of our lives together.

Appendix (Papers I-IV)





FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Clinical Sciences

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2023:118 ISBN 978-91-8021-459-9 ISSN 1652-8220

